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Letter of transmittal

Minister Responsible for the Law Commission 
Parliament Buildings 
WELLINGTON 

Dear Minister

I have the honour to present to you the annual report of the  
Law Commission for the year ended 30 June 2011.

This report is prepared under section 150 of the Crown  
Entities Act 2004.

Yours sincerely

Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM 
President
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The Law Commission 
Te Aka Matua o te Ture
Directory

The Law Commission is an independent, publicly funded, law reform 
organisation established under the Law Commission Act 1985 to 
undertake the systematic review, reform and development of the law of 
New Zealand. Its purpose is to help achieve law that is modern, coherent 
and principles-based, which reflects and facilitates the policy objectives 
underpinning it, provides appropriate constitutional checks and 
balances, meets the needs of the community and enables citizens to have 
confidence the integrity of our legal system.

In undertaking its research and analysis, and developing its 
recommendations for law reform, the Commission takes into account 
te ao Mäori (the Mäori dimension) as well as community and 
international trends and experience.

The members of the Law Commission as at 30 June 2011, appointed 
under section 9 of the Law Commission Act 1985, are:

• Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM

• Dr Warren Young

• Emeritus Professor John Burrows QC

• George Tanner CNZM QC

• Professor Geoff McLay

Address Details

The office of the Law Commission is located at: 
Level 19, 171 Featherston Street, Wellington

The postal address is: 
PO Box 2590, Wellington, 6140. DX SP23534

Telephone: (04) 473 3453, Fax: (04) 471 0959 
E-mail: com@lawcom.govt.nz 

Information about the Law Commission and its work is available via the 
internet from the Commission’s website at: www.lawcom.govt.nz.

Funding

The Law Commission is funded from money appropriated by Parliament 
through Vote: Justice.

mailto:com@lawcom.govt.nz
http://www.lawcom.govt.nz
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President’s foreword
Over the last quarter of a century the Law Commission has earned a 
well-established and respected place in the New Zealand legal and 
governance systems. As the Annual Report demonstrates, it is a small 
but well trained resource which assists in the consolidation and 
development of New Zealand law, for the benefit of all citizens.

The Commission is productive, and it is influential in bringing about 
change, for the better. In the five year period 1 July 2006 to 30 June 
2011, we tabled 26 reports in Parliament providing our analysis and 
recommendations for law reform. Of those, the Government accepted 
16 reports, partially accepted one, and did not accept one. We are 
presently awaiting consideration by Government of eight other reports.

These figures speak for themselves. Mentioning particular law reform 
areas is invidious, insofar as the impact of all law change is important to 
all citizens. However the diversity of the areas of our law reform work is 
significant and ranges from matters affecting Parliament and legislation 
itself (for instance, the Legislation Bill currently before the House and 
allowances for members of Parliament presently being addressed in the 
Civil List Bill) through the important social issues of substance-
dependence and the impact of alcohol in the lives of New Zealanders. 
Traditional black letter law reform in that five-year period has included, 
as illustrations, the important work on a new Land Transfer Act,  
the Insanity Defence and Compensation for Crime Victims.

The successful advancement of around half a dozen law reform issues 
per year to completion and broad acceptance can only be achieved in a 
small organisation with the commitment and dedication of the 
Commissioners, supported by enthusiastic and able researchers and 
front office staff. I am most grateful to them all.

Not to be overlooked is the further contribution Commissioners  
and staff make to the Legislation Advisory Committee, which makes  
a significant, if little noted, contribution to better legislation in  
New Zealand.
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A particular acknowledgement is due to the Rt Hon Sir Geoffrey 
Palmer SC who was instrumental in helping to bring the Commission 
into existence all those years ago, and who then returned to it five years 
ago as President with unbridled enthusiasm and drive to achieve the 
sort of results already noted. His dedication to advancing the state of 
New Zealand law has been truly extraordinary.

This year has been something of a transitional one. It was marked by 
Sir Geoffrey’s departure and Commissioner Val Sim, and the arrival of 
the new President and a new Commissioner in Professor Geoff McLay. 
Some caution was expressed in the last Annual Report as to the 
difficulties all public sector institutions face because of the difficult 
economic climate. Happily the Commission’s finances are now stable 
and will enable us to satisfactorily address, on an ongoing basis, the 
programme set out in our Statement of Intent and this Annual Report.

Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM 
President
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The Commission
Who are we

The Law Commission is an independent Crown entity governed by the 
Law Commission Act 1985 (LCA) and the Crown Entities Act 2004 
(CEA). Our statutory purpose is to promote the systematic review, 
reform and development of the law of New Zealand. 

The Board, for the purposes of the CEA, are the members of the 
Commission. In the financial year under review Commissioners were 
as follows:

• President, Rt Hon Sir Geoffrey Palmer SC (term expired 1 December 
2010)

• President, Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM (from 1 December 2010)

• Deputy President, Dr Warren Young

• Commissioner, Emeritus Professor John Burrows QC

• Commissioner, George Tanner QC

• Commissioner, Val Sim (term expired 8 October 2010)

• Commissioner, Professor Geoff McLay (from 1 December 2010)

The Commission is a small organisation and at year end there were  
19 staff members –the General Manager, 12 legal and policy advisers 
and six support staff. The Commission engages law students on a part 
time basis during the year to provide research assistance and makes  
use of consultants with expertise in specialist areas. We have our own 
law library and operate from offices in the Wellington CBD.

What do we do
We are an independent law reform organisation and in 2010/11 we 
introduced the following objective as the basis for our strategic framework.

The objective of the Law Commission is to improve the quality, relevance 
and effectiveness of New Zealand law, which it seeks to do by informing and 
supporting discussion on and making recommendations for law reform.

To support us in pursuing this objective, we have an established policy 
and legal research culture and we provide legal advice (supported by 
legal research, and legal and policy analysis) to the Minister through our 
three services (outputs).

http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/1985/0151/latest/DLM85582.html
http://www.legislation.govt.nz/act/public/2004/0115/latest/DLM329631.html
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Output 1 Legal Advice: Law Reform 

Through the delivery of our law reform work programme we inform 
and support debate on, and make recommendations for reform of  
the current law, to improve its quality, relevance and effectiveness.  
Law reform advice is the most significant service we provide in terms 
of our expenditure and resourcing. Our programme is agreed with the 
Minister Responsible for the Law Commission on an annual basis, 
although it is a rolling programme and as one project is completed, 
usually following the presentation of a final report in the House, a new 
project will commence.

Maintaining a careful balance between working closely with the 
Government of the day and our statutory independence is an ongoing 
focus for the Commission. Although the Commission upon its own 
motion may undertake law reform projects, it has not done so in recent 
years. We do, however, hold strongly to our independence in 
determining how we undertake each project and the analysis and 
recommendations we make. Securing positive government responses to 
the recommendations in our law reform reports is essential as unless 
the Government gives priority to our projects or wishes to enact our 
recommendations, it is unlikely reform will be possible.

Output 2 Legal Advice: Quality of Legislation

Alongside our law reform programme, the Commission advises the 
Minister of Justice and the Minister Responsible for the Law Commission 
on ways in which the law of New Zealand can be made more 
understandable and as accessible as is practicable, focusing on its quality, 
relevance and effectiveness. The main way in which the Commission 
undertakes this function is through its advice to two important executive 
committees that are aimed at improving the quality of legislation:  
the Legislation Advisory Committee (LAC), a committee of experts 
appointed by the Attorney-General drawn from senior public and private 
sector lawyers, academics and senior retired and sitting members of the 
judiciary, as well as senior economists, which has existed since 1986;  
and the Legislation Design Committee (LDC), a high level inter-
departmental committee that provides a resource for officials seeking 
advice on the structure and design of legislative and regulatory proposals, 
which was created in 2006.
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Output 3 Legal Advice: Law Reform Implementation

The Commission is also called upon by departments and Ministers to 
provide assistance on the implementation of our law reform 
recommendations, as well as on a wide variety of legislative proposals, 
involving difficult legal or constitutional issues that may be under 
consideration. Implementation work may involve drafting or 
commenting on Cabinet papers, providing drafting instructions to 
Parliamentary Counsel, assisting a select committee, or providing 
support to departmental officials at any point in the legislative process, 
focusing again on the quality, relevance and effectiveness of legislation. 
Upon request, the Commission also appears in front of select committees 
to provide advice on particular issues of legal concern.

Descriptions of each of our three services along with annual performance 
information for 2010/11 are included in the Statement of Service 
Performance, below.
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PART 1 
Non-financial reporting

Our strategic approach over the medium term

The Commission’s purpose is to ‘promote the systematic review, reform 
and development of the law of New Zealand’. Our core functions are to 
make recommendations for the reform and development of the law, to 
advise on any aspect of the law of New Zealand reviewed by other 
agencies and on proposals as a result of the review, and to advise the 
Minister on ways in which the law can be made more understandable 
and accessible to all New Zealanders.

The Commission’s statutory functions are broadly stated and effectively 
speak for themselves. The subject matter is the whole of New Zealand 
law. The systematic review of the law is about keeping the statute book 
up to date, which in turn is likely to lead to greater public acceptance of 
and confidence in the law and the legal system. ‘Success’ in this context 
is not easily achieved or measured in the short or even medium term 
and it is not within the Commission’s capability or resourcing levels to 
review the full statute book. Within these constraints and using our 
statutory mandate as the starting point, the Commission developed and 
presented the following strategic objective in our 2010/2013 Statement 
of Intent:

The objective of the Law Commission is to improve the quality, relevance 
and effectiveness of New Zealand law, which it seeks to do by informing 
and supporting discussion on and making recommendations for  
law reform.

We developed definitions for the two elements (highlighted) of our 
objective and identified five indicators of progress towards these 
elements. The first element focuses on the overall purpose of any law 
reform organisation, to recommend improvements in the character and 
quality of the prevailing legislation. The second element focuses on the 
quality of the approach and processes we adopt in pursing that purpose.

Many of the aspects of intended performance or characteristics covered 
by the indicators will always be subjective or will lag in time to a degree 
that the value of measurement becomes questionable. Further, some 
aggregate indicators may have limited value due to the variability of the 
mix of work that we undertake. We recognise that, in some situations, 
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http://www.lawcom.govt.nz/project/publication/corporate-paper/2010/statement-intent-2010-2013
http://www.lawcom.govt.nz/project/publication/corporate-paper/2010/statement-intent-2010-2013
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we may need to accept that high value information may not be possible 
at reasonable cost. Essentially, progress against the indicators is a matter 
of judgement and balance over the medium term rather than achievement 
in strict numerical terms.

Progress on our strategic approach

This is the first year that we have reported on progress against our 
strategic objective and we anticipated that our initial definitions and 
indicators would require further work and development. Despite the 
limitations identified above, we are satisfied that the indicators set out 
below provide a good base for monitoring progress. We will continue to 
monitor and refine their efficacy and application over time, including 
strengthening our measurement systems and approaches.

Quality of legislation: Indicator 1

QUALITY, RELEVANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS FIVE YEARS  
2006–2011

1 Response to the Commission’s recommendations by 
the Government, Select Committees and departments

1.1 Accepted – the Commission’s recommendations 
are fully or substantially accepted 16 (61.6%)

1.2 Partially accepted – the Commission’s 
recommendations accepted in part 1 (3.8%)

1.3 Not accepted – the Commission’s 
recommendations not accepted 1 (3.8%)

1.4 Awaiting formal Government response 8 (30.8%)

A significant indicator of the effectiveness of the Commission’s work 
remains the extent to which government accepts our recommendations 
for law reform and takes steps to implement them. In 2009/2010 we 
developed a methodology using a rolling five year cycle, to track the 
acceptance of our report recommendations over time. The methodology 
identifies the number of reports published in the last five years and 
categorises them according to the response definitions above. The rolling 
cycle is consistent with the Commission’s annual work programme 
which has new projects added each year as current projects are 
completed. The five year period reported here commenced 1 July 2006 
and finished 30 June 2011.
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The methodology does not lend itself to a formulaic approach and each 
report is considered on its merits to determine its correct categorisation. 
Legislative enactment is only one measure of our effectiveness, as not all 
our projects are undertaken to alter legislation and in some cases it is not 
always possible to determine the degree to which recommendations have 
been taken up. While some recommendations seek fundamental changes to 
the statute book, others seek updating or amending of a statute,  
and some of our recommendations do not seek to alter legislation. 
Consideration of our recommendations occurs within a context of 
competing government priorities, limited parliamentary time and limited 
resources to implement reforms. We note therefore that even if accepted, 
some of our recommendations may not reach the statute book.

Outcome of report recommendations: 1 July 2006–30 June 2011

REPORT NAME REPORT 
REFERENCE

STATUS COMMENT/ACTIVITY 
IN 2010/11

Access to Court 
Records

NZLC R93 
(2006)

Partially 
accepted

New High Court Rules for 
access to court records came 
into force February 2009

Sentencing Guidelines 
and Parole Reform

NZLC R94 
(2006)

Accepted Criminal Justice Reform Act 
2007 assent July 2007

Reforming the  
Law of Sedition

NZLC R96 
(2007)

Accepted Crimes (Repeal of Seditious 
Offences) Act 2007 assent 
November 2007

Search and 
Surveillance Powers

NZLC R97 
(2007)

Accepted Search and Surveillance 
Powers Bill introduced 
September 2008

Revised Search and Surveillance 
Bill reported back November 
2010

The Partial Defence  
of Provocation

NZLC R98 
(2008)

Accepted Crimes (Provocation Repeal) 
Amendment Bill assent 
December 2009

Habeas Corpus 
Refining the 
Procedure

NZLC R98 
(2008)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Habeas Corpus Amendment  
Bill drafted.

Public Registers: 
Review of the  
Law of Privacy

NZLC R100 
(2008)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Government to consider  
the four privacy project reports 
when the final  
report is presented to the 
House in August 2011.  
(See also NZLC SP19,  
R113 and R123) 
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REPORT NAME REPORT 
REFERENCE

STATUS COMMENT/ACTIVITY 
IN 2010/11

A New Inquiries Act NZLC R101 
(2008)

Accepted Inquiries Bill reported  
back November 2009

Disclosure to Courts 
of Defendants’ 
Previous Convictions, 
Similar Offending,  
and Bad Character

NZLC R103 
(2008)

Accepted Commission to monitor  
the operation of the Evidence 
Act 2006 and report to 
Minister of  
Justice. First report on sections 
37–43 provided April 2010 
(Output 3)

Presentation of  
New Zealand  
Statute Law

NZLC R104 
(2008)

Accepted Legislation Bill reported back 
December 2010.  
(See also NZLC R107)

Alcohol Legislation 
and the Conscience 
Vote

NZLC R106 
(2009)

Accepted Alcohol Reform Bill first 
reading November 2010

Review of Drafting 
and Statutes 
Compilation Act 1920

NZLC R107 
(2009)

Accepted Legislation Bill reported back 
December 2010  
(See also NZLC R104)

Private Schools and 
the Law

NZLC R108 
(2009)

Accepted Education Amendment Bill (No 
2) assent December 2010

Suppressing Names 
and Evidence

NZLC R109 
(2009)

Accepted Criminal Procedure (Reform 
and Modernisation) Bill 
introduced November 2010

Review of Part 8 of 
the Crimes Act 1961: 
Crimes against the 
Person

NZLC R111 
(2009)

Accepted Crimes Amendment Bill  
(No 2) first reading May 2011

Review of the Civil 
List – the Governor-
General  
(Part 1: Civil List 
project)

NZLC R112 
(2009)

Accepted Governor-General Act 2010  
assent November 2010

Invasions of Privacy: 
Penalties and 
Remedies

NZLC R113 
(2010)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Government to consider the 
four privacy project reports 
when the final report is 
presented to the House in 
August 2011 (See also NZLC 
SP19, R101 and R123)

Alcohol in our Lives: 
Curbing the Harm

NZLC R114 
(2010)

Accepted Alcohol Reform Bill first 
reading November 2010
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REPORT NAME REPORT 
REFERENCE

STATUS COMMENT/ACTIVITY 
IN 2010/11

A New Support 
Scheme for Veterans: 
Report on the  
review of War 
Pensions Act 1954

NZLC R115 
(2010)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Reports published in 2010/11

A New Land  
Transfer Act

NZLC R116 
(2010)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Supported preparation  
of Cabinet papers on the report 
and on aligning  
land registers (Output 3)

Compulsory 
Treatment 
for Substance 
Dependence: A 
Review of the 
Alcoholism and Drug 
Addiction Act 1966

NZLC R118 
(2010)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Supported preparation of draft 
legislation (Output 3)

A Review of the 
Civil List Act 
1979 – Members 
Of Parliament and 
Ministers

NZLC R119 
(2010)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Supported preparation of 
Cabinet paper on the report 
and preparation of draft 
legislation (Output 3)

Mental Impairment 
Decision Making and 
the Insanity Defence

NZLC R120 
(2010)

Accepted Further work being 
undertaken with officials on 
implementation (Output 3)

Compensating Crime 
Victims

NZLC R121 
(2010)

Not 
accepted

Government decisions on 
victims’ compensation made 
before report published. 
Government response 
rejects further report 
recommendations.

Controlling and 
Regulating Drugs – A 
Review of the Misuse 
of Drugs (R122)

NZLC R122 
(2011)

Awaiting 
formal 
Govt 
response

Further work being 
undertaken with officials on 
implementation (Output 3)

Review of the Privacy 
Act 1993

NZLC R123 
(2011)

Accepted Government to consider the 
four privacy project reports 
when the final report is 
presented to the House in 
August 2011 (See also NZLC 
SP19, R101 and R113)

Note 1: The NZLC reports not included in the above table are our Annual Reports to Parliament. 

We no longer include these reports in this series.

Note 2: ‘Accepted’ recommendations include those that are substantially accepted.
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http://www.lawcom.govt.nz/publications?filters=year:2010/2011 tid:28


14 Annual Report 

The Commission seeks to maintain this high-level of positive response 
by the Government to its recommendations as an obviously  
critical indicator of our success in achieving our strategic objective. 
Improvements in the quality, relevance and effectiveness of  
New Zealand law will not occur without this response. Unless the 
Government wishes to enact our recommendations, it is unlikely reform 
will be possible.

Acceptance of our reports is assisted through the consultation process 
with the Minister in determining our law reform work programme, as 
discussed above. The positive result reported here is however, by no 
means self-fulfilling as we also hold strongly to our independence in 
determining how we approach our work, our analysis of the issues we 
consider and the recommendations we make.

Quality of legislation: Indicator 2

QUALITY, RELEVANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS 2010/11

2 The extent to which the Commission’s work 
(analysis, advice and recommendations) stimulates 
law reform activity by other organisations. 

2.1 Referral of matters for the Commission’s 
law reform work programme

We added six new references to our law reform 
work programme and commenced work in 2010/11. 
We added one further reference to the programme 
that we will commence in 2011/12 when staff and 
Commissioner resources will become available.

New matters are identified by:

• Ministers directly
• agencies responsible for administering the 

legislation, through advice to their Ministers
• the legal profession and other stakeholders
• the Commission in the course of our other work

All potential matters for inclusion on our law reform 
programme are considered under the Ministerial 
consultation process set out in Cabinet Office Circular Law 
Commission: Processes for Setting the Work Programme and 
Government Response to Reports (CO (09) 1).

New matters were 
identified from:

• Ministers – two
• agencies – two
• LAC – one
• Commission – 

one
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QUALITY, RELEVANCE AND EFFECTIVENESS 2010/11

2 2.2 Requests for the Commission’s involvement 
in broader matters relating to the quality 
of legislation and implementation of new 
legislation

Through Output 2, we provide reports to LAC on 
government bills, and at the request of the LAC, prepare 
submissions to Select Committees in relation to a number 
of these bills. In addition, in supporting the role of LDC, 
we provided comments and feedback to government 
department officials on various documents (such as Cabinet 
papers, Ministerial briefings and drafting instructions) 
relating to the implementation of new legislation.

Through Output 3, we also provide advice in a number of 
areas relating to the implementation of recommendations 
from our earlier law reform reports. A small number of 
these areas are major advisory projects for the Commission 
including the development of Cabinet papers and draft 
legislation with the administering department and the 
Office of Parliamentary Counsel, and on request from 
the Chair of a Select Committee, either providing ad hoc 
advice or taking a joint advisory role with the department. 
Others areas involve similar work on a less intensive basis.

Requests for our 
involvement in 
‘major’ matters 
relating to:

• quality of 
legislation – 
three 
(Output 2)

• law reform 
implementation 
– three 
(Output 3)

2.3 Invitations to contribute to the work of 
overseas law reform bodies

During the year the Commission responded to 
invitations for information sharing, legal and policy 
advice, submissions on projects, a submission to an 
Australian Senate inquiry, and hosting of staff from a 
number of law reform bodies. Engagement with other 
overseas law reform bodies during 2010/11 included:

• Australian Law Reform Commission
• Samoan Law Reform Commission
• Scottish Law Commission
• Solomon Islands Law Reform Commission

Other law reform 
bodies seeking our 
input – four

The Commission is not alone in seeking to improve the quality, 
relevance and effectiveness of New Zealand law. Through the above 
indicators of the extent to which the Commission’s work (analysis, 
advice and recommendations) stimulates law reform activity by other 
organisations, we seek to show a wider positive response to our work. 
These indicators reflect confidence in: our technical competence, 
openness and accessibility of our processes; the relevance and timeliness 
of the focus of our work; and the quality of our recommendations. 
Reflecting that confidence, we received referrals of matters for review 
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from two different Ministers and two departments. In addition, LAC 
requested that we prepare submissions to Select Committees on 18 
government bills where LAC considered that the quality of the proposed 
legislation failed to meet its guidelines on the content and/or process of 
legislation. These submissions were in addition to the 52 reports that 
we prepared for LAC to assess the extent to which government bills 
complied with the LAC guidelines. We also continued to contribute to 
law reform more generally, including working to assist law reform 
colleagues in other jurisdictions.

We are further developing our measurement systems for these indicators.

Our role in the law reform process: Indicator 3

LEADING AND INFORMING DEBATE 
AND MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS

2010/11

3 Recognition of the Commission as a principal 
participant and leader in informing and supporting 
the debate by interest and professional groups and 
individual experts

3.1 The range and number of participants actively 
engaged in the law reform process as expert 
advisers, submitters, and referrers of matters 
for review.

The most significant feature of the Commission’s law 
reform project methodology is wide spread consultation. 
Within all our projects there are consultation processes 
that include subject experts (legal and technical) 
departmental and public sector officials, business, industry 
and community groups, as well as the public at large.  
We use our issues papers to consult and seek submissions 
on possible policy options and proposals for reform.

Consulted with 55 
expert advisers

Received 4,175 
submissions

Received 5  
new matters 
for review from 
external referrers 
(see Indicator  
2.1, above)

3.2 Requests for the Commission to participate  
in public discussions (including conferences  
and seminars)

The Commission made presentations to conferences  
and seminars in relation to our law reform programme. 
In addition, Commissioners and senior staff were invited 
to make presentations to conferences and seminars  
on topics unrelated to our current work programme.

Law reform work 
programme – 16

General law reform 
matters – 11
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LEADING AND INFORMING DEBATE 
AND MAKING RECOMMENDATIONS

2010/11

4 Reaching a broader constituency

4.1 Positive media responses to the release 
of consultation documents and reports 
showing an understanding of the 
Commission’s role

The media response to the Commission’s work indicates 
a high public profile and that we are recognised by 
politicians, the law profession, the media, and the wider 
community as a key contributor in the law reform debate 
in New Zealand. All Commission papers published 
during the year received national media coverage 
from both mainstream and legal media. In addition to 
newspaper coverage, Commissioners and senior staff 
were regularly interviewed on national radio networks 
and for television news programmes. Widespread 
media coverage on the Commission’s recommendations 
in relation to alcohol reform has been ongoing since 
the publication of our report in April 2009 and the 
subsequent introduction of a government bill.

Media references:

• recognised 
the evidence 
based research 
and analytical 
methodology 

• used phrases 
such as 
‘excellent’, 
‘thorough’, 
‘comprehensive’ 
and ‘very 
accessible’

5 Recognition of the Commission as a source of 
consistently sound recommendations

5.1 Independent, external assessments of a 
sample of our reports (a direct link to the 
quality of our reports and advice)

This year was the first in which the Commission invited 
external peer review of a selection of our reports 
subsequent to their presentation in the House.  
The external reviewers were asked to assess the 
publications against the quality criteria that the 
Commission uses in its project management guide,  
and the reports reviewed were selected to achieve  
a balance between the scope of each review, the  
review process followed and the area of law involved.

Three reports 
reviewed from 
the 14 published 
between July 2009 
and December 
2010 (21.4%) – all 
assessed as meeting 
standards

Through monitoring indicators of the level of recognition of the Commission 
as a principal participant and leader in informing and supporting the debate 
by interest and professional groups and individual experts, we will be able 
to comment systematically on our success in informing and supporting 
discussion on and making recommendations for law reform.

We are also further developing our measurement systems for these 
indicators.
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Our operational focus

Our work programme – development and delivery

This year we commenced a process to develop a more strategic approach 
to the development of our work programme. We began putting in place 
processes to monitor and collate law reform issues and possible areas 
for review. We identified various interest groups and organisations to 
consult and developed a draft survey for eliciting public input into 
identifying areas of concern. This work will be ongoing in 2011/12.

In our Statement of Intent 2011–2014, we noted nine law reform projects 
as being underway in the 2010/11 year. Of these, eight were active law 
reform projects and ‘work in progress’ carried over from 2009/10, and 
work had not yet commenced on one. In June 2010, at the conclusion of 
a consultation process with his Cabinet colleagues, the Minister and the 
Commission agreed to add five new projects to the work programme.  
A further project was added to the programme in October 2010 when the 
Minister asked the Commission to look at the current regulatory regime 
for news media with respect to its adequacy in catering for new and 
emerging forms of news media – sometimes referred to as the “new 
media”. At year end, we had thirteen active projects on our law reform 
work programme and a commitment to commence a new project in 
2011/12. These programmes are listed in the table, below.

Law reform work programme – Active projects

LAW REFORM PROJECT INCLUDED IN 
PROGRAMME

ACTIVITY DURING 2010/11

Burials and Cremation  
Act 1964

2010 (June) Final Words: Death and Cremation 
Certification in New Zealand  
NZLC IP23 (2011)

Civil penalties – law relating 
to civil penalties

2010 (June) Preliminary research and scoping  
of project 

Credit Repossession Act 1997 2010 (June) Drafting issues paper to be published 
2011/12

Crown Proceedings Act 1950 2010 (October) Work to commence in 2011/12

Drugs and Alcohol – Misuse 
of Drugs Act 1975

2007 (July) Compulsory Treatment for Substance 
Dependence: A Review of the 
Alcoholism and Drug Addiction  
Act 1966 NZLC R119 (2010)

Controlling and Regulating Drugs –  
A Review of the Misuse of Drugs 1975 
NZLC R122 (2011)

http://www.lawcom.govt.nz/project/publication/corporate-paper/2011/statement-intent-2011-2014
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LAW REFORM PROJECT INCLUDED IN 
PROGRAMME

ACTIVITY DURING 2010/11

Incorporated Societies  
Act 1908

2010 (June) Reforming the Incorporated Societies 
Act 1908 NZLC IP24 (2011)

Insanity – release 
mechanisms

2004 (October) Mental Impairment Decision  
Making and the Insanity Defence 
NZLC R120 (2010)

Judicature Act 1908 and 
consolidation of courts 
legislation

2010 (June) Towards A New Courts Act –  
A Register of Judges’ Pecuniary 
Interests NZLC IP21 (2011)

Maximum penalties 2007 (February) Drafting of Ministerial briefing.

New media – review  
of regulatory gaps and  
the new media

2010 (October) Drafting of issues paper for 
publication in 2011/12

Official Information Act 1981 2009 (April) The Public’s Right to Know  
NZLC IP18 (2010)

Privacy Law – Privacy  
Act 1991

2006 (October) Invasions of Privacy: Penalties and 
Remedies NZLC R113 (2010)

Review of the Privacy Act 1993  
NZLC R123 (2011)

Trial processes – alternative 
pre-trial and trial processes

2009 (July) Facilitated workshop with project 
partners from Law Foundation 
and invited organisations, interest 
groups and individuals. Drafting 
issues paper for publication in 
2011/12

Victims’ compensation 2008 (May) Compensating Crime Victims  
NZLC R121 (2010)

Note 1: The nature of law reform is such that an individual project may be on the programme 

for several years, depending on the complexity of the issues, the nature of the review process 

we adopt and available resources. In addition to these active projects, our law reform work 

programme may also include issues that are pending (awaiting input from another organisation 

or some other form of external dependency) or on hold (deferred as a result of a change in 

priorities). We also maintain a list of potential projects.

Further information on the delivery of our law reform work programme 
is included in the Statement of Service Performance, below.
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Developing quality review processes

An important focus for the Commission this year has been on the 
development and implementation of internal and external peer review 
processes for our legal and policy advisory work and the resultant 
publications. This development work is ongoing.

In relation to our law reform projects (output 1), we operate internal 
peer review processes for all external publications including, final 
reports, Ministerial briefing papers and issues papers. Internal peer 
review involves: dual sign off by the project Commissioner (on 
substance) and Senior Legal and Policy Advisers (on process); and 
formal sign off by Commission resolution on final reports.

For the advisory work we do on the quality of legislation (output 2), 
one or more Commissioner ‘signs out’ LAC reports and legal and policy 
advice to assure consistency with the quality criteria. Where the 
Commission prepares submissions to a Select Committee for the LAC, 
the submission is also subject to external peer review following 
circulation to all LAC members.

Implementation work (output 3), by its nature, is often time pressured 
and internal peer review processes are agreed between the Commissioner 
and staff responsible for the work. If a significant change to a previously 
stated policy position (e.g. a final report recommendation) was thought 
necessary, the matter may be referred to a full Commission meeting for 
consideration and determination where practicable.

Developing operational systems

Information and Technology Management

We made significant progress in implementing the final set  
of recommendations from our records management review.  
The development work on a new file classification structure is complete 
and implementation will take place in the first half of 2011/12.

We have continued to develop our website functionality in line with our 
decision to limit physical publication of our issues papers and provide 
online copy as part of seeking to engage more broadly with the public 
on law reform issues through our website. We now have the ability to 
receive submissions through the website and can engage with the public 
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or expert advisers and peer reviewers using either open or closed  
(by invitation) online forums. We are developing processes to capture 
and analyse statistical information from the website that we can use  
to improve the functionality and website experience for end users.  
Over time we expect that effective use of this technology infrastructure 
will deliver efficiencies in our consultation, peer review and project 
management processes.

Financial Systems Management

This is the first year that the Commission has reported its expenditure 
on an output basis. We moved to this method of monitoring and 
reporting our expenditure to improve the information available to 
management for prioritising resource allocation. Reporting costs at this 
level also provides a greater transparency to our expenditure and  
is a step in the development of a project based costing methodology, 
which is an initiative we will progress in the next financial year.

Good employer initiatives

The Commission’s staff are our most valuable asset. To remain a high 
functioning organisation delivering consistently high quality legal advice 
we must continue to develop capability that aligns with an individual’s 
development needs and the Commission’s strategic objectives.  
The Commission provides and encourages professional training and 
development opportunities for staff. Legal and advisory staff participate 
in continuing legal education provided by the New Zealand Law Society 
and its affiliated agencies, and attend specific project related courses and 
seminars, strategic meetings and conferences to gain information  
and develop professional and collegial relationships. Training for 
corporate staff is focused on new skills acquisition and/or skills refresher 
training and development, along with opportunities to keep current 
with professional developments in their areas of responsibility.

The Commission is committed to a flexible workplace where staff can 
enjoy a balance between work and home. We provide opportunities for 
part time work and working away from the office by providing remote 
access to the Commission’s systems. We offer flu injections to staff and 
support all initiatives to promote a balanced and healthy lifestyle.
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Statement of Responsibility

The Commission accepts responsibility for the preparation of the 
statement of service performance, financial statements and the judgements 
used herein.

The Commission accepts responsibility for establishing and maintaining 
a system of internal control designed to provide reasonable assurance 
as to the integrity and reliability of its financial reporting.

In the opinion of the Commission the financial statements and statement 
of service performance for the year ended 30 June 2011 fairly reflect the 
financial position and operations of the Law Commission.

Signed on behalf of the Commission

Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM    
President      

Dr Warren Young 
Deputy President
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Statement of service performance
For the year ended 30 June 2011

Output Class: Advice from the Law Commission

This output class covers advice on the review, reform and development 
of all aspects of the law in New Zealand.

Budgeted Revenue: $ 4,785,230  
including Revenue from the Crown $4,723,000

Actual Revenue: $ 4,855,930

Budgeted Expenditure: $ 4,700,289 
Actual Expenditure: $ 4,499,387

Performance Measures

The 2010/11 year is the first in which the Commission has assessed  
its performance against the measures and standards set out below. 
These measures and standards, which we identified in the Statement of 
Intent 2010–2013, focus on the most critical aspects of the Commission’s 
performance in relation to the delivery of each of our outputs.

The quality of our reports and advice to Government are critical to our 
effectiveness as an independent law reform organisation. All outputs 
include a quality dimension that is managed and monitored through the 
governance, project and operational management processes that we 
apply to our law reform projects and advisory work.

Output One – Legal Advice: Law Reform is our most significant output 
in terms of expenditure and resourcing. We will refine the financial 
measure for this output over time and ultimately develop a project 
costing model that will aggregate all costs across the life of a project, 
usually multiple financial years. In the meantime, we assign direct 
project costs and apportion overheads across the law reform work 
programme on a pro rata basis using research hours as the cost driver.

In addition to the internal quality assurance processes we apply to our 
work in this output, we also subject a selection of our final reports to 
external peer review processes, inviting subject experts to assess our work 
against specific quality criteria. Our productivity in relation to this output 
is also critical. We monitor the number of active law reform projects that 
we have on our work programme and the number of projects that we 
complete through the publication of final legal and policy recommendations 
to Government.
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In addition to meeting internal quality standards, work completed under 
Output Two – Legal Advice: Quality of Legislation and Output Three – 
Legal Advice: Implementation is time sensitive, as we are required to 
meet external timeframes such as those within the legislative process 
(e.g. LAC reports on Bills in the House; Select Committee submission 
dates) or within policy development processes (e.g. comment on Cabinet 
papers or Ministerial briefing papers). We monitor timeliness as a 
critical indicator of our performance in relation to these two outputs.

Output 1: Legal Advice – Law Reform

Budgeted total output cost: $3,493,200 – Actual total output cost: 
$3,285,456

This output focuses on providing final legal and policy advice and 
recommendations to government at the conclusion of law reform 
projects, in the form of reports to be presented to the House, Ministerial 
briefing papers and published Study and Occasional Papers. The advice 
is based on analyses of existing areas of law, informed by consultation 
with interested parties, legal research and determination of the policy 
outcomes that the law should be striving to achieve.

PERFORMANCE MEASURE STANDARD ACTUAL PERFORMANCE 
2010–2011

Legal advice provided is consistent with the quality criteria in the Project Management 
Guide (see below) – attested by:

• internal peer review 
processes applied to projects

All Standard achieved – implemented 
from March 2011 and applied to:

• two final reports  
(sevenSee Note 1 – 28.5%)

• one Ministerial  
briefing (100%) and

• four issues papers  
(eight–50%).

• independent, external 
assessment of a sample  
of our reports 
(From Statement of Intent 
2011-2014: sample of 
20–25% of our reports  
(to a maximum of five)

To be 
determined.

Standard 
introduced for 
2011/12:

All in sample 
assessed as 
meeting the 
quality criteria

Standard achieved – all  
reports in sample (3–21.5%)  
met quality criteria

Sample reports were selected 
from the 14 reports published 
between July 2009 and 
December 2010.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE STANDARD ACTUAL PERFORMANCE 
2010–2011

Average number of active law 
reform projects underway

12–15 Standard achieved – 14 active 
law reform projects have been 
underway during the 2010/11 
year. (22 – 2009/10: decrease 
due to reduction in staff 
numbers reflecting impact of 
financial pressures).

Law reform projects completed during the year through:

• a report prepared for 
presentation to the House

3–5

Standard exceeded – seven final 
reports prepared for presentation 
in the House. (8 – 2009/10).

The list of reports presented  
can be found in Appendix B  
of the Annual Report.

• provision of a Ministerial 
briefing, publication of a 
Study or Occasional paper

3–5 Standard partially achieved – 
one Ministerial briefing provided 
(2 – 2009/10)

Provision consistent with 
Budgeted Total Output Cost

Within +/ – 
15%

Standard achieved – expenditure 
is within 2% of the budgeted 
output cost

Note 1: A list of the seven reports we published during 2010/11 is included in the table 

Outcome of Report Recommendations – 1 July 2006-30 June 2011, earlier in this report.

Output 2: Legal Advice – Quality of Legislation

Budgeted total output cost: $297,549 – Actual total output cost: 
$420,545

This output focuses on three areas relating to work that is outside the 
Commission’s law reform work programme: legal and policy advice to 
the Legislation Advisory Committee (LAC), and advice to the 
Government and its agencies on the development of new high-quality 
legislation that meets the Committee’s published standards; advice on 
the structure and design of legislative and regulatory proposals brought 
before the Legislation Design Committee (LDC); and ad hoc legal advice 
in response to specific requests from Select Committees, Ministers and 
officials in relation to legislation unrelated to the Commission’s law 
reform work. The output also involves general advisory and 
administrative support provided by the Commission to both committees.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE STANDARD ACTUAL PERFORMANCE 
2010–2011

Legal advice provided is consistent with the quality criteria in the Project Management 
Guide – attested by:

• internal peer review 
processes applied to projects

All Standard achieved

Timeliness of legal advice:

• reports to LAC – prepared 
for consideration at the next 
meeting, where agreed

95% Standard exceeded – 52 reports 
(100%) were prepared for 
consideration at the next LAC 
meeting or as otherwise agreed 
(51 – 2009/10).

In addition, 18 submissions to 
select committees on government 
bills prepared

• advisory work (major 
projects) – provided within 
agreed timeframes

95% Standard achieved – the three 
major projects this year were:

• securities law reform
• consumer law reform
• financial markets  

regulatory reform

Additional areas in which we 
provided advice included:

• criminal procedure
• alcohol reform
• crimes against the person
• information sharing between 

government departments

Output 3: Legal Advice – Implementation

Budgeted total output cost: $909,540 – Actual total output cost: 
$793,386

This output focuses on supporting implementation of the recommendations 
from law reform projects in two areas. First participating in the 
development of draft legislation with the administering department, and 
providing ad hoc legal advice in response to specific requests from Select 
Committees, Ministers and officials. Second, monitoring the 
implementation of government decisions in response to earlier 
Commission reports and other publications, including follow-up analyses 
and reports on the issues, changes in practices after completion of the 
report, and formally reviewing the implementation process.
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PERFORMANCE MEASURE STANDARD ACTUAL PERFORMANCE 
2010–2011

Legal advice provided is consistent with the quality criteria in the Project Management 
Guide – attested by:

• internal peer review processes 
applied to all projects

All Standard achieved

Timeliness of legal advice (major projects):

• provided within  
agreed timeframes

95% Standard achieved – legal 
advice provided on a number of 
legislative projects. The major 
projects this year were:

• Simplification of Criminal 
Procedure – joint advisers  
to Select Committee

Ref: Criminal Pre-Trial Processes 
NZLC R89 (2005)

• Evidence Act 2006 (periodic 
review) – ongoing monitoring 
of the operation of the 
legislation to inform  
periodic review 

Ref: Evidence Act 2006  
section 202

• Search and Surveillance Bill – 
advisers to Select Committee

Ref: Search and Surveillance 
Powers NZLC R97 (2005)

Legal advice also provided  
on a number of other projects 
relating to earlier law reform 
reports, including:

• Alcohol in our Lives: Curbing 
the Harm NZLC R114 (2010)

• Private Schools and the  
Law NZLC R108 (2009)

• Suppressing Names and 
Evidence (part of joint 
Criminal Simplification 
Project) NZLC R109 (2009)

• A Review of the Civil List 
Act 1979 – Members of 
Parliament and Ministers 
NZLC R119 (2010)

• provided within  
agreed timeframes
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Financial statements
for the year ended 30 June 2011

Statement of comprehensive income 
For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011 2011  2010

Actual Budget Actual

Note $ $ $

Income

Revenue from Crown 2 4,723,000 4,723,000 4,800,000

Interest income 70,732 47,230 57,477

Sale of publications 17,589 15,000 22,556

Other revenue 3 43,826 0 0

Gain on sale of fixed assets 783 0 0

Total income 4,855,930 4,785,230 4,880,033

Expenditure

Personnel 4 2,961,900 3,114,021 3,333,286

Direct project costs 218,473 310,000 533,813

Library 121,026 118,414 125,370

Occupancy 6 617,351 636,524 631,767

Amortisation 11 28,514 38,000 9,209

Depreciation 10 263,968 205,000 244,212

Audit 23,980 25,000 22,809

Other operating 5 264,175 253,330 254,405

Loss on disposal 0 0 3,357

Total expenditure 4,499,387 4,700,289 5,158,228

Net surplus/(deficit) 356,543 84,941 (278,195)

Other comprehensive income

Loss on library collection 
revaluation

14 (20,030) 0 0

Total other comprehensive income (20,030) 0 0

Total comprehensive income 336,513 84,941 (278,195)

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 

Explanations of significant variances against budget are detailed in note 22.
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of financial position 
As at 30 June 2011

2011 2011  2010

Actual Budget Actual

Note $ $ $

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7 510,732 107,000 352,247

Debtors and other receivables 9 95,479 10,000 59,031

Prepayments 95,276 80,000 102,122

Investments 8 800,000 800,000 555,944

Total current assets 1,501,487 997,000 1,069,344

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 10 674,247 828,000 866,217

Intangible assets 11 85,021 93,000 66,039

Total non-current assets 759,268 921,000 932,256

Total assets 2,260,755 1,918,000 2,001,600

Liabilities

Current liabilities

Creditors and other payables 12 314,294 250,000 386,189

Employee entitlements 13 131,679 120,000 137,142

Total liabilities 445,973 370,000 523,331

Net Assets 1,814,782 1,548,000 1,478,269

Equity

General funds 14 1,558,138 1,271,000 1,201,595

Revaluation reserves 14 256,644 277,000 276,674

Total equity 1,814,782 1,548,000 1,478,269
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The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

Statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011  2011 2010

Actual Budget Actual

Note $ $ $

Balance at 1 July 1,478,269 1,463,059 1,756,464

Comprehensive income

Surplus/(deficit) 356,543 84,941 (278,195)

Other comprehensive income (20,030) 0 0

Total comprehensive income 336,513 84,941 (278,195)

Balance at 30 June 14 1,814,782 1,548,000 1,478,269 PA
RT
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Statement of cash flows 
For the year ended 30 June 2011

2011  2011  2010

Actual Budget Actual

Note $ $ $

Cash flows from operating 
activities

Receipts from Crown revenue 4,723,000 4,723,000 4,800,000

Interest received 58,708 47,230 60,467

Sale of publications and other 
revenue

57,412 15,000 27,534

Payments to employees (2,976,687) (3,050,568) (3,321,649)

Payments to suppliers (1,217,940) (1,374,682) (1,452,767)

Goods and services tax (net) (20,505) 23,480 (36,490)

Net cash from operating activities 16 623,988 336,500 77,095

Cash flows from investing 
activities

Placement of funds on term 
deposits

(5,755,000) 0 (5,400,877)

Maturity of funds on term 
deposits

5,510,943 0 5,045,000

Purchase of property, plant  
and equipment

(159,239) (107,500) (126,621)

Purchase of intangible assets (62,990) (56,000) (65,347)

Gain on sale of fixed assets 783 0 0

Net cash from investing activities (465,503) (163,500) (547,845)

Net(decrease)/increase in cash 
and cash equivalents

158,485 173,000 (470,750)

Cash and cash equivalents 
at the beginning of the year

7 352,247 734,000 822,997

Cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the year

7 510,732 907,000 352,247

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements.

The GST (net) component of operating activities reflects the net GST paid and received with 
the Inland Revenue Department.
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Notes to the financial statements

1  Statement of accounting policies for the year ended 
30 June 2011 

Reporting entity

The Law Commission is an independent Crown entity for legislative 
purposes, established by the Law Commission Act 1985. The  
Law Commission is domiciled in New Zealand and as such its ultimate 
parent is the New Zealand Crown.

The Law Commission’s primary objective is to review areas of the  
law that need updating, reforming or developing and to make 
recommendations to the New Zealand Parliament. 

The Law Commission is accordingly a public benefit entity for the 
purposes of New Zealand Equivalents to International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“NZ IFRS”).

The financial statements are for the year ended 30 June 2011 and were 
approved by the Commissioners on 7th September 2011.

Basis of Preparation

Statement of Compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
Law Commission Act 1985 and the Crown Entities Act 2004 which 
includes the requirement to comply with New Zealand generally 
accepted accounting practice (“NZ GAAP”).

They comply with NZ IFRS and other applicable Financial Reporting 
Standards, as appropriate for public benefit entities.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 
consistently to all periods in these financial statements.

Measurement base

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, 
except where modified by the revaluation of library collections.

Functional and presentation currency

The financial statements are presented in New Zealand dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest dollar. The functional currency of the 
Law Commission is New Zealand dollars.
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Changes in accounting policies

There have been no changes in accounting policies during the  
financial year.

Standards, amendments and interpretations issued that are not 
yet effective and have not been adopted early and which are 
relevant to the Law Commission include:

NZ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments will eventually replace NZ IAS 39 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. NZ IAS 39 is 
being replaced in three phases. The approach in the new standard is 
based on how an entity manages its financial instruments and the 
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. The new 
standard also requires a single impairment method to be used, replacing 
the many different impairment methods in NZ IAS 39. The new 
standard is required to be adopted for the year ended 30 June 2014.  
The Law Commission has not yet assessed the impact of the new 
standard and expects it will not be early adopted. 

NZ IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures (revised 2009) replaces NZ IAS 
24 Related Part Disclosures (issued 2004) and is effective for reporting 
periods commencing on or after 1 January 2011. The revised standard:

i) Removes the previous disclosure concessions applied by the 
Commission for arm’s length transaction between the Commission 
and entities controlled or significantly influenced by the Crown.  
The effect of the revised standard is that more information is required 
to be disclosed about transactions between the Commission and 
entities controlled or significantly influenced by the Crown.

ii) Provides clarity on the disclosure of related party transactions with 
Ministers of the Crown. Further, the Commission will be provided 
with an exemption from certain disclosure requirements relating to 
transactions with Ministers of the Crown. The clarification could 
result in additional disclosures should there be any related party 
transactions with Ministers of the Crown.

iii) Clarifies that related party transactions include commitments with 
related parties.

The Commission expects that it will adopt the revised standard for the 
year ended 30 June 2012.
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Significant Accounting Policies

The following particular accounting policies which materially affect the 
measurement of comprehensive income and financial position have 
been applied:

Revenue

The Commission derives revenue from the provision of outputs to the 
Crown, the sale of its publications to third parties, provision of specialist 
services and income from investments.

Revenue from the Crown

Revenue is restricted in its use for the purpose of the Law Commission 
meeting its objectives as specified in the statement of intent.

Such revenue is recognised when earned, is measured at the fair value 
of consideration received and is reported in the financial period to which 
it relates.

Interest 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

Sale of publications

Sales of publications are recognised when the product is sold to the 
customer.

Provision of Services

Revenue derived through the provision of services to third parties is 
recognised in proportion to the stage of completion at balance sheet date. 

Leases

Operating leases

Leases where the lessor effectively retains substantially all the risks and 
benefits of ownership of the leased items are classified as operating 
leases. Operating lease expenses are recognised on a straight line basis 
over the period of the lease in the statement of comprehensive income.

Debtors and other receivables

Accounts receivable are stated at their estimated realisable value after 
providing for doubtful and uncollectable debts. When the receivable is 
uncollectible, it is written off against the provision for doubtful debts. 
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Investments

Investments in bank deposits are initially measured at fair value and 
subsequently at fair value less any provision for impairment. Impairment 
is established when there is objective evidence that the Law Commission 
will not be able to collect any amounts due according to the original 
terms of the deposit.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment asset classes consist of library collection, 
furniture and fittings, computer hardware and office equipment.

All classes are initially recorded at cost. Library collections are stated at 
fair value. Fair value is determined using market based evidence by an 
independent valuer. Library collections are valued every four years. 
Additions between revaluations are recorded at cost. 

The carrying values of revalued items are reviewed at each balance date 
to ensure that those values are not materially different to fair value.

Accounting for revaluations

The Commission accounts for revaluations of property, plant and 
equipment on a class-of-assets basis.

The net revaluation results are credited or debited to other 
comprehensive income and accumulated to an asset revaluation reserve 
in equity for that class of asset. Where this would result in a debit 
balance in the asset revaluation reserve, this balance is not recognised 
in other comprehensive income but is recognised in the surplus or 
deficit. Any subsequent increase on revaluation that reverses a previous 
decrease in value recognised in the surplus or deficit will be recognised 
first in the surplus or deficit up to the amount previously expensed, and 
then recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The Library collection was revalued as at 30 June 2011 by independent 
valuer, Stephanie Lambert of Lamberts Library Services. 

Additions

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as 
an asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits or service 
potential associated with the item will flow to the Commission and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.
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Disposals

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds 
with the carrying amount of the asset. Gains and losses on disposals are 
included in the statement of comprehensive income.

When revalued assets are sold, the amounts included in revaluation 
reserves in respect of those assets are transferred to general funds.

Subsequent costs

Costs incurred subsequent to initial acquisition are capitalised only 
when it is probable that future economic benefits or service potential 
associated with the item will flow to the Law Commission and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably.

The costs of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as they are 
incurred.

Depreciation

Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis on all property, plant 
and equipment other than land, at rates that will write off the cost  
(or valuation) of the assets to their estimated values over their useful 
lives. The useful lives and associated depreciation rates of major classes 
of assets have been estimated as follows:

Computer equipment  3 years  33.33%
Office equipment  5 years  20%
Furniture and fittings  10 years 10%
Library collection  5 years  20%

The residual value and useful life of an asset is reviewed, and adjusted 
if applicable, at each financial year-end.

Intangible assets

Software acquisition 

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised on the basis of the 
costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

Staff training costs are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with maintaining computer software are recognised as 
an expense when incurred.

Costs associated with the maintenance of the Law Commission website 
are recognised as an expense when incurred. Costs associated with the 
development of the Law Commission website are capitalised. 
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Amortisation

The carrying value of an intangible asset with a finite life is amortised 
on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Amortisation begins when 
the asset is available for use and ceases at the date that the asset is 
derecognised. The amortisation charge for each period is recognised in 
the statement of comprehensive income.

The finite useful lives and associated amortisation rates of the major 
class of intangible assets has been estimated as follows: 

Computer Software 3 years  33%
Website  3 years  33%

Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets that have a finite 
useful life are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value 
in use.

Value in use is depreciated replacement cost for an asset where the 
future economic benefits or service potential of the asset are not 
primarily dependent on the asset’s ability to generate net cash inflows 
and where the Law Commission would, if deprived of the asset, replace 
its remaining future economic benefits or service potential.

If an asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset 
is impaired and the carrying amount is written down to the recoverable 
amount. For revalued assets the impairment loss is recognised against 
the revaluation reserve for that class of asset. Where that results in a 
debit balance in the revaluation reserve, the balance is recognised in the 
surplus or deficit.

For assets not carried at revalued amount, the total impairment loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

The reversal of an impairment loss on a revalued asset is recognised in 
other comprehensive income. However, to the extent that an impairment 
loss for that class of asset was previously recognised in the surplus or 
deficit, a reversal of the impairment loss is also recognised in the surplus 
or deficit.

For assets not carried at a revalued amount the reversal of an impairment 
loss is recognised in the surplus or deficit.
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Financial Instruments

The Law Commission is a party to financial instruments as part of its 
normal operations. These financial instruments include bank accounts, 
short-term deposits, debtors and creditors. All financial instruments are 
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position and all revenue and 
expenses in relation to financial instruments are recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. All financial instruments are 
shown at their estimated fair value.

Creditors and other payables

Creditors and other payables are measured at fair value. 

Employee entitlements

Short term employee entitlements

Employee entitlements that the Commission expects to be settled within 
12 months of balance date are measured at undiscounted nominal values 
based on accrued entitlements at current rates of pay. These include 
salaries and wages accrued up to balance date, annual leave earned but 
not yet taken at balance date and sick leave.

The Commission recognises a liability for sick leave to the extent that 
compensated absences in the coming year are expected to be greater than  
the sick leave entitlements earned in the same year. The amount is 
calculated based on the unused sick leave entitlement that can be carried 
forward at balance date to the extent that the Commission anticipated 
it will be used by staff to cover those future absences.

Superannuation schemes

Obligations for contributions to KiwiSaver is accounted for as defined 
contribution superannuation schemes and is recognised as an expense 
in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Where GST is not recoverable as an input tax then it is recognised as 
part of the related asset or expense.

The net amount of GST recoverable from or payable to Inland Revenue 
Department (IRD) is included as part of receivables or payables in the 
statement of financial position.

The net GST paid to, or received from the IRD including the GST 
relating to investing and financing activities, is classified as an operating 
cash flow in the statement of cash flows.

Commitments and contingencies are disclosed exclusive of GST.
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Taxation

The Law Commission is a public authority in terms of the Income Tax 
Act 2007 and consequently is exempt from income tax.

Cash and Statement of Cash Flows

Cash and cash equivalents means cash balances on hand, cash held in 
bank accounts, term deposits with original maturities of three months 
or less and other highly liquid investments, in which the Commission 
invests as part of its day-to-day cash management.

Definitions of the terms used in the Statement of Cash Flows are:

“Cash” includes coins and notes, demand deposits and other highly 
liquid investments readily convertible into cash. 

“Investing activities” are those activities relating to the acquisition  
and disposal of current and non-current investments and any other 
non-current assets.

“Financing activities” are those activities relating to changes in equity 
of the entity.

“Operating activities” include all transactions and other events that are 
not investing or financing activities.

Budget Figures

The budget figures have been prepared in accordance with NZ GAAP, 
using accounting policies that are consistent with those adopted by the 
Commission for the preparation of the financial statements.

Cost allocation

Direct costs identifiable against specific projects are charged directly to 
those projects. Indirect costs are charged to specific projects in 
proportion to the direct labour hours recorded against those projects.

“Direct costs” are those costs directly attributable to a specific project.

“Indirect costs” are those costs which cannot be identified in an 
economically feasible manner with a specific project.
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Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

In preparing these financial statements the Law Commission has made 
estimates and assumptions concerning the future. These estimates and 
assumptions may differ from the subsequent actual results. Estimates 
and assumptions are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a 
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below:

Property, plant and equipment useful lives and residual value

At each balance date the Law Commission reviews the useful lives and 
residual values of its property, plant and equipment. Assessing the 
appropriateness of useful life and residual value estimates of property, 
plant and equipment requires the Law Commission to consider a 
number of factors such as the physical condition of the asset, expected 
period of use of the asset by the Law Commission, and expected disposal 
proceeds from the future sale of the asset.

The Law Commission has not made significant changes to past 
assumptions concerning useful lives and residual values. The carrying 
amounts of property, plant and equipment are disclosed in note 10.

Critical judgements in applying the Law Commission’s accounting policies

Management has exercised the following critical judgement in  
applying the Law Commission’s accounting policies for the period ended 
30 June 2011:

Lease classification

Determining whether a lease agreement is finance or an operating lease 
requires judgement as to whether the agreement transfers substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership to the Law Commission. 
Judgement is required on various aspects that include, but are not 
limited to, the fair value of the leased asset, the economic life of the 
leased asset, whether or not to include renewal options in the lease term 
and determining an appropriate discount rate to calculate the present 
value of the minimum lease payments. Classification as a finance lease 
means the asset is recognised in the statement of financial position as 
property, plant and equipment, whereas for an operating lease no such 
asset is recognised. 
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2  Revenue from Crown

The Law Commission has been provided with funding from the Crown 
for the specific purposes of the Law Commission as set out in its 
founding legislation and the scope of the relevant government 
appropriations. Apart from these general restrictions, there are no 
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies attached to government funding 
(2010: nil).

3  Other Revenue

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Secondments 43,826 0

Total other revenue 43,826 0

Secondment arrangements with; Department of Prime Minister and 
Cabinet, and Luke, Cunningham & Clere, Barristers and Solicitors, 
Wellington.

4  Personnel costs

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Salaries and Wages 2,914,243 3,269,162

Employer contributions to defined  
contribution plans

53,120 53,682

Increase/(decrease) in employee  
entitlements (note 13)

(5,463) 10,442

Total personnel costs 2,961,900 3,333,286

Employer contributions to defined contribution plans are employer 
contributions to KiwiSaver only.
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5  Other operating costs 

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Staff travel 8,807 349

Operating lease expense – equipment 8,490 10,020

Repairs and maintenance 5,304 9,003

Professional services 28,468 54,316

Communications 38,172 44,127

Other operating 174,934 136,590

Total other operating 264,175 254,405

6  Occupancy costs

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Rent 522,522 536,767

Operating lease expense – premises 94,829 95,000

Total accommodation costs 617,351 631,767

7  Cash and cash equivalents

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Cash on hand and at bank 507,904 102,247

Visa 2,828 0

Cash equivalents – term deposit 0 250,000

Total cash and cash equivalents 510,732 352,247

For an investment to qualify as a cash equivalent it must be readily 
convertible to a known amount of cash and be subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value.

PA
RT

 1
 

N
on

-fi
na

nc
ia

l  
re

po
rt

in
g

PA
R

T
 2

 
St

at
em

en
t 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
  

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 a
nd

  
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
A

PP
EN

D
IC

ES



44 Annual Report 

8  Investments
2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Current investments are represented by:

Term deposits 800,000 555,944

Total investments 800,000 555,944

Maturity analysis and effective interest rates of term deposits

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Term deposits with maturities of 4-6 months 150,000 555,944

Effective interest rate 3.5% 3.00%

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Term deposits with maturities of 6–12 months 650,000 0

Effective interest rate 5.3%

There were no impairment provisions for investments. The carrying 
amount of term deposits with maturities of less than 12 months 
approximates their fair value.

9  Debtors and other receivables

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Trade debtors 7,711 3,708

Less: provision for doubtful debts (257) (257)

GST receivable 75,002 54,496

Accrued interest 13,023 1,084

Total debtors and other receivables 95,479 59,031

The carrying value of receivables approximates their fair value.

At 30 June 2011 all overdue receivables have been assessed for 
impairment and if necessary, adjustments to existing provisions applied.
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10  Property, plant and equipment

Movements for each class of property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Computer 

equipment

Furniture 

and fittings

Office 

equipment

Library 

collection
Total 

$ $ $ $ $

Cost or valuation

Balance at 1 July 2009 128,700 575,883 65,643 743,073 1,513,299

Additions 45,055 2,787 1,006 77,773 126,621

Disposals (1,420) 0 (10,240) 0 (11,660)

Adjustment 45,119 0 0 0 45,119

Balance at 30 June 2010 217,454 578,670 56,409 820,846 1,673,379

Additions 22,613 0 1,182 68,233 92,028

Disposals (101,294) 0 0 0 (101,294)

Revaluation (decrease) 0 0 0 (614,391) (614,391)

Balance at 30 June 2011 138,773 578,670 57,591 274,688 1,049,722

Accumulated depreciation 

Balance at 1 July 2009 106,188 123,983 30,418 265,545 526,134

Depreciation expense 16,548 57,450 12,888 157,326 244,212

Adjustment 45,119 0 0 0 45,119

Retirement (1,420) 0 (6,883) 0 (8,303)

Balance at 30 June 2010 166,435 181,433 36,423 422,871 807,162

Depreciation expense 24,068 57,659 10,751 171,490 263,968

Elimination on revaluation 0 0 0 (594,361) (594,361)

Retirement (101,294) 0 0 0 (101,294)

Balance at 30 June 2011 89,209 239,092 47,174 0 375,475

Carrying amounts

At 1 July 2009 22,512 451,900 35,225 477,528 987,165

At 30 June and 1 July 2010 51,019 397,237 19,986 397,975 866,217

At 30 June 2011 49,563 339,579 10,417 274,688 674,247
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11  Intangible assets

Website 
Acquired 
software

Total

$ $ $

Cost

Balance at 1 July 2009 98,432 51,993 150,425

Additions 30,160 35,187 65,347

Retirement 0 (2,232) (2,232)

Balance at 30 June 2010 128,592 84,948 213,540

Additions 47,496 0 47,496

Retirement (5,020) (21,711) (26,731)

Balance at 30 June 2011 171,068 63,237 234,305

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2009 93,452 47,072 140,524

Amortisation expense 3,951 5,258 9,209

Retirement 0 (2,232) (2,232)

Balance at 30 June 2010 97,403 50,098 147,501

Amortisation expense 16,038 12,476 28,514

Retirement (5,020) (21,711) (26,731)

Balance at 30 June 2011 108,421 40,863 149,284

Carrying amounts

At 30 June 2009 4,980 4,921 9,901

At 30 June 2010 31,189 34,850 66,039

At 30 June 2011 62,647 22,374 85,021
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12  Creditors and other payables 
2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Creditors 291,787 226,891

Accrued expenses 22,507 159,298

Total creditors and other payables 314,294 386,189

Creditors and payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled 
on 30 day terms, therefore the carrying value of creditors and other payables 
approximates their fair values.

13  Employee entitlements
2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Current employee entitlements are represented by: 

Accrued salaries and wages 58,548 59,303

Annual leave 66,294 71,002

Sick leave 6,837 6,837

Total employee entitlements 131,679 137,142

14  Equity
2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

General funds 

Balance at 1 July 1,201,595 1,479,790

Surplus/(deficit) 356,543 (278,195)

Balance at 30 June 1,558,138 1,201,595

Property, plant and equipment (Library)  
revaluation reserves

Balance at 1 July 276,674 276,674

Revaluation (20,030) 0

Balance at 30 June 256,644 276,674

Total equity at 30 June 1,814,782 1,478,269
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The most recent valuation of the library was performed by an 
independent valuer, S. Lambert of Lamberts Library Services and the 
valuation is effective as at 30 June 2011. 

NZ IAS 16 77(e) states that Public Benefit Entities are not required to 
disclose, for each revalued class of property, plant and equipment,  
the carrying amount that would have been recognised had the assets 
been carried under the cost model.

15  Financial Instruments

Categories of financial assets and liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities in each of the 
NZ IAS 39 categories are as follows:

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Loans and receivables

Cash and cash equivalents (note 7) 510,732 352,247

Debtors and other receivables (note 9) 95,479 59,031

Investments – term deposits (note 8) 800,000 555,944

Total loans and receivables 1,406,211 967,222

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Creditors and other payables (note 12) 314,294 386,189
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16  Reconciliation of net surplus/(deficit)  
to net cash from operating activities

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Net surplus/(deficit) 356,543 (278,195)

Add/(less) non-cash items:

Depreciation expense 263,968 244,212

Amortisation expense 28,514 9,209

Bad debts 0 (67)

Provision for sick leave adjustment 0 (2,293)

Less (gain) on fixed asset sales (783) 3,357

Total non-cash items 648,242 254,418

Add/(less) movements in working capital items:

Debtors and other receivables (29,602) (58,557)

Creditors and other payables 10,811 146,694

Employee entitlements (5,463) 12,735

Net movements in working capital items (24,254) 100,872

Net cash from operating activities 623,988 77,095

17  Events after the balance sheet date

There were no significant events after the balance sheet date.
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18  Commitments

There are no capital expenditure commitments (2010: none).

Non-cancellable lease on office accommodation

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Not later than one year 621,479 614,842

Later than one year and not later than five years 2,477,936 2,459,366

Later than five years 1,135,721 1,740,002

Total 4,235,136 4,814,210

Contract for the supply of library information

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Not later than one year 87,491 60,810

Later than one year and not later than five years 99,002 0

Total contract for the supply of library information 186,493 60,810

19  Related party transactions and key  
personnel remuneration

Related party transactions

The Law Commission is an independent crown entity. The government 
significantly influences the role of the Law Commission in addition to 
being its major source of revenue.

Any transactions that the Law Commission enters into with government 
departments, state-owned enterprises and other crown entities occur 
within a normal supplier or client relationship on terms and conditions 
no more or less favourable than those which it is reasonable to expect 
the Law Commission would have adopted if dealing with that entity at 
arm’s length. Therefore they are not considered related party transactions.
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Key management personnel compensation

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,416,366 1,597,957

Total key management personnel compensation 1,416,366 1,597,957

Key management personnel include the President, Deputy President, 
three Commissioners and the General Manager.

Employee remuneration

Remuneration range

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Between $100,000 and $109,999 6 4

Between $110,000 and $119,999 2 0

Between $160,000 and $169,999 1 1

Between $170,000 and $179,999 1 1

Total employees 10 6

Commissioner remuneration

2011 2010

Actual Actual

$ $

Rt Hon Sir Geoffrey Palmer (President until 30 November 2010) 100,921 358,373

Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM (President from 1 December 2010) 116,375 0

Dr Warren Young (Deputy President) 298,593 286,460

Emeritus Professor John Burrows QC 237,137 273,598

George Tanner QC 265,212 258,922

Val Sim (Commissioner term expired 7 October 2010) 68,137 273,598

Professor Geoff McLay (Commissioner term commenced  
1 December 2010)

159,337 0

Total 1,245,712 1,450,951
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In terms of the Law Commission Act 1985, the President of the Law 
Commission is the Chief Executive. The current President is a Judge of 
the Court of Appeal and is paid by the Ministry of Justice. In accordance 
with the formula agreed with the Ministry of Justice, the Law 
Commission reimbursed $116,375 (GST excl) on account of this.  
This does not represent the actual remuneration received by the 
President. In determining the amount reimbursed, consideration has 
been given to the fact that the President retains his judicial warrant and 
may be required to sit in the Court of Appeal from time to time. 

During the year ended 30 June 2011 no (2010: none) employees received 
compensation and other benefits in relation to cessation.

20  Contingencies

The Law Commission has no contingent liabilities or assets at balance 
date 30 June 2011. (2010: Nil)

21  Capital management

The Law Commission’s capital is its equity, which comprises accumulated 
funds and other reserves. Equity is represented by net assets.

The Law Commission is subject to the financial management and 
accountability provisions of the Crown Entities Act 2004, which impose 
restrictions in relation to borrowings, acquisition of securities, issuing 
guarantees and indemnities and the use of derivatives.

The Law Commission manages its equity as a by-product of prudently 
managing revenues, expenses, assets, liabilities, investments and general 
financial dealings to ensure the Law Commission effectively achieves 
its objectives and purpose whilst remaining a going concern.

22  Explanation of significant variances against budget

Explanations for significant variances from the Law Commission’s 
budgeted figures in the Statement of Intent (SOI) are as follows:

Statement of comprehensive income

The 2010/11 year has seen a change in Presidency in the Law 
Commission resulting in unanticipated favourable movements in 
personnel costs. This was partially offset by fluctuations in the work 
programme necessitating a small increase in researcher costs.
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Adjustments to the work programme resulted in a reduction in direct 
project costs. Travel expenditure was curtailed considerably.

Particular attention to spending resulted in some small savings in 
administration costs.

Statement of financial position

A revaluation of the library and the de-recognition of computer and 
software assets no longer in use resulted in a reduction in the value of 
non-current assets. 

Total liabilities exceeded budgeted expectations due to the timing of 
billing arrangements between the Ministry of Justice and the Law 
Commission for the repayment of the President’s salary. 

Statement of changes in cash flows

Variation in miscellaneous revenue arises from unanticipated 
secondment contracts occurring during the year.

23  Financial Instrument Risk

The Law Commission’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
instrument risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Law Commission has a series of policies to manage the risks 
associated with financial instruments and seeks to minimise exposure 
from financial instruments. These policies do not allow any transactions 
that are speculative in nature to be entered into.

Market risk

Fair value and cash flow interest rate risk

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial 
instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates. 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that cash flows from a financial 
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.

The Law Commission’s exposure to fair value interest rate risk and cash 
flow interest rate risk is limited to its bank deposits which are held at 
fixed rates of interest. The risk is therefore managed by investing in 
on-call and short term deposits with high credit-rated financial 
institutions.
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Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a third party will default on its obligations to 
the Law Commission, causing the Law Commission to incur a loss.

Due to the timing of its cash inflows and outflows, the Law Commission 
invests surplus cash with registered banks.

The Law Commission’s maximum credit exposure for each class of 
financial instrument is represented by the total carrying amount of cash 
and cash equivalents (note 7), net debtors (note 9) and term deposits. 
There is no collateral held as security against these financial instruments.

The Law Commission has no significant concentrations of credit risk, 
as it has a small number of credit customers, rarely extends credit and 
only invests funds with registered banks with specified credit rating.

The Commission does not have bank overdraft facilities as at 30 June 
2011. The Commission has a letter of credit with BNZ for $90,000 for 
the purpose of cashing staff pay only.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Law Commission will encounter 
difficulty raising liquid funds to meet commitments as they fall due.

In meeting its liquidity requirements, the Law Commission maintains 
a target level of investments that must mature within specified 
timeframes.

All creditors and other payables are due for settlement within six months.



55

Independent  
Auditor’s Report
To the readers of the Law Commission’s 
financial statements and statement of service 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2011

The Auditor-General is the auditor of the Law Commission  
(the Commission). The Auditor-General has appointed me, Clare Helm, 
using the staff and resources of Audit New Zealand, to carry out the 
audit of the financial statements and statement of service performance 
of the Commission on her behalf. 

We have audited:

• the financial statements of the Commission on pages 29 to 54, that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2011, the 
statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity 
and statement of cash flows for the year ended on that date and notes 
to the financial statements that include accounting policies and other 
explanatory information; and

• the statement of service performance of the Commission on pages  
24 to 28.

Opinion

In our opinion:

• the financial statements of the Commission on pages 29 to 54:

 − comply with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand; and

 − fairly reflect the Commission’s:

 - financial position as at 30 June 2011; and

 - financial performance and cash flows for the year ended on 
that date.

• the statement of service performance of the Commission on pages  
24 to 28 

 − complies with generally accepted accounting practice in 
New Zealand; and
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 − fairly reflects, for each class of outputs for the year ended 30 June 
2011, the Commission’s

 - service performance compared with the forecasts in the 
statement of forecast service performance for the financial 
year; and

 - actual revenue and output expenses compared with the 
forecasts in the statement of forecast service performance at 
the start of the financial year.

Our audit was completed on 7 September 2011. This is the date at which 
our opinion is expressed.

The basis of our opinion is explained below. In addition, we outline the 
responsibilities of the Commissioners and our responsibilities, and we 
explain our independence.

Basis of opinion

We carried out our audit in accordance with the Auditor-General’s 
Auditing Standards, which incorporate the International Standards on 
Auditing (New Zealand). Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and carry out our audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements and 
statement of service performance are free from material misstatement. 

Material misstatements are differences or omissions of amounts and 
disclosures that would affect a reader’s overall understanding of the 
financial statements and statement of service performance. If we had 
found material misstatements that were not corrected, we would have 
referred to them in our opinion.

An audit involves carrying out procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements and 
statement of service performance. The procedures selected depend on 
our judgement, including our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, we consider internal control relevant to the Commission’s 
preparation of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance that fairly reflect the matters to which they relate. We 
consider internal control in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control.
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An audit also involves evaluating:

• the appropriateness of accounting policies used and whether they 
have been consistently applied;

• the reasonableness of the significant accounting estimates and 
judgements made by the Commissioners;

• the adequacy of all disclosures in the financial statements and 
statement of service performance; and

• the overall presentation of the financial statements and statement of 
service performance.

We did not examine every transaction, nor do we guarantee complete 
accuracy of the financial statements and statement of service 
performance. We have obtained all the information and explanations 
we have required and we believe we have obtained sufficient and 
appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of the Commissioners

The Commissioners are responsible for preparing financial statements 
and a statement of service performance that:

• comply with generally accepted accounting practice in New Zealand; 

• fairly reflect the Commission’s financial position, financial 
performance and cash flows; and

• fairly reflect its service performance.

The Commissioners are also responsible for such internal control as is 
determined necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
and a statement of service performance that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

The Commissioner’s responsibilities arise from the Crown Entities  
Act 2004.

Responsibilities of the Auditor

We are responsible for expressing an independent opinion on the 
financial statements and statement of service performance and reporting 
that opinion to you based on our audit. Our responsibility arises  
from section 15 of the Public Audit Act 2001 and the Crown Entities 
Act 2004.

PA
RT

 1
 

N
on

-fi
na

nc
ia

l  
re

po
rt

in
g

PA
R

T
 2

 
St

at
em

en
t 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
  

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 a
nd

  
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
A

PP
EN

D
IC

ES



58 Annual Report 

Independence

When carrying out the audit, we followed the independence 
requirements of the Auditor-General, which incorporate the 
independence requirements of the New Zealand Institute of Chartered 
Accountants.

Other than the audit, we have no relationship with or interests in the 
Commission.

Clare Helm 
Audit New Zealand 
On behalf of the Auditor-General 
Wellington, New Zealand

Matters relating to the electronic presentation of the 
audited financial statements and statement of service 
performance

This audit report relates to the financial statements and statement of 
service performance of the Law Commission (the Commission) for the 
year ended 30 June 2011 included on the Commission’s website. The 
Commissioners are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of 
the Commission’s website. We have not been engaged to report on the 
integrity of the Commission’s website. We accept no responsibility for 
any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements and 
statement of service performance since they were initially presented 
on the website.  

The audit report refers only to the financial statements and statement 
of service performance named above. It does not provide an opinion on 
any other information which may have been hyperlinked to or from the 
financial statements and statement of service performance. If readers of 
this report are concerned with the inherent risks arising from electronic 
data communication they should refer to the published hard copy of the 
audited financial statements and statement of service performance as 
well as the related audit report dated 7 September 2011 to confirm the 
information included in the audited financial statements and statement 
of service performance presented on this website.

Legislation in New Zealand governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial information may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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Crown Entities Act  
2004 Reporting

Report on equal employment opportunities 
programme in terms of section 151(1)(g)

The Law Commission complies with the principles of being a good employer.

It operates personnel policies containing provisions generally accepted 
as necessary for the fair and proper treatment of its employees in all 
aspects of their employment. It provides good and safe working 
conditions to its employees. It provides opportunities for the 
enhancement of the abilities of individual employees. The Commission 
also recognises the aims and aspirations and employment requirements 
and cultural differences of ethnic or minority groups.

The Commission operates an equal employment opportunities policy  
where the best person for the job is employed. The Commission has flexible 
employment arrangements, for example, to cater for those with childcare 
responsibilities and those approaching retirement. There is one woman 
Commissioner. As at the balance date 86% of employees are women.

Report on acts in breach of statute in terms of 
section 20(3)

The Law Commission did not carry out any act that is contrary to,  
or outside the authority of an Act. All its actions were for the purpose 
of performing its functions.

Report on permission to act despite being 
interested in a matter in terms of section 68(6)

As a former Member of Parliament and a former Prime Minister, the 
President of the Commission, Sir Geoffrey Palmer SC, is entitled to certain 
payments under the Civil List Act 1979. As the Commissioner leading the 
Commission’s project reviewing this Act, the President declared this 
interest to the Minister Responsible for the Law Commission by letter to 
Hon Simon Power (29 July 2009). The Commission’s review of the Act is 
not looking at the amount of the payments under the Act but rather seeking 
to clarify the legislative framework and improve transparency. On this basis 
the Minister gave his permission for Sir Geoffrey to continue his role as 
Commissioner in charge of this review (18 August 2009). The final report 
in this project was published in December 2010 (Review of the Civil List Act 
1979 – Members of Parliament and Ministers NZLC R119 (2010)). 
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Appendix A
Members and Staff of Law Commission 
as at 30 June 2011

Commissioners

Hon Sir Grant Hammond KNZM President  
Dr Warren Young Deputy President 
Emeritus Professor John Burrows QC 
George Tanner CNZM QC 
Professor Geoff McLay

Staff

General Manager    Brigid Corcoran

Special Projects Adviser  Margaret Thompson

Senior Legal & Policy Advisers  Allison Bennett 
    Cate Brett 
    Claire Browning 
    Marion Clifford 
    Jo Dinsdale  
    Susan Hall 
    Joanna Hayward 
    Rachel Hayward 
    Andrea King 
    Ewan Lincoln 
    Lecretia Seales

Legal and Policy Advisors  Sophie Klinger

Principal Librarian    Peter Adamson

Librarian    Jacqueline Kitchen

Assistant Librarian    Katherine Narbey

Management Support Adviser  Naidene McClew 

Finance Officer    Felicity Reid

Personal Assistant    Catriona Boyes
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Appendix B
Law Commission Publications 
as at 30 June 20111

Report Series

NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 1 Imperial Legislation in 
Force in New Zealand

March 1987 Largely implemented by the  
Imperial Laws Application Act 1988  
and associated legislation.

NZLC R 2 Annual Report 1987

NZLC R 3 The Accident 
Compensation Scheme: 
Interim Report on  
Aspects of Funding

November 1987 Considered in preparing the Accident 
Rehabilitation and Compensation 
Insurance Act 1992 and some 
recommendations reflected in its provisions.

NZLC R 4 Personal Injury: Prevention 
and Recovery (Report on 
the Accident Compensation 
Scheme)

May 1988 Considered also in connection with reviews 
of the Accident Rehabilitation and 
Compensation Insurance Act 1992 and 
implementing regulations undertaken in 1994.

NZLC R 5 Annual Report 1988

NZLC R 6 Limitation Defences  
in Civil Proceedings

October 1988 Update review completed November 2008, 
Limitation Act 2010.

NZLC R 7 The Structure of the Courts March 1989 Substantial effect given to the 
recommendations in various  
enactments reforming courts’  
jurisdiction in 1991 and 1992.

NZLC R 8 A Personal Property 
Securities Act for  
New Zealand

April 1989 Implemented by the Personal  
Property Securities Act 1999.

NZLC R 9 Company Law: Reform  
and Restatement

June 1989 Companies Act 1993, Receiverships  
Act 1993 and amendments to the  
Property Law Act 1952 and the Companies 
Act 1955 entered into force on 1 July 1994.

NZLC R 10 Annual Report 1989

NZLC R 11 Legislation and its 
Interpretation: Statutory 
Publications Bill

September 1989 Implemented in part by Regulations 
(Disallowance) Act 1989 and Acts and 
Regulations Publications Act 1989.

NZLC R 12 First Report on 
Emergencies: Use of the 
Armed Forces

February 1990 Implemented in the Defence Act 1990.

NZLC R 13 Intellectual Property:  
The Context for Reform

March 1990 For use as a resource, No law changes 
recommended.

1 This appendix lists all publications of the Law Commission that have a cataloguing in publication reference.  
There are other publications relating to the progress of law reform projects, such as occasional papers,  
ministerial briefings and survey results, on the Commission’s website. 
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NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 14 Criminal Procedure: Part 
One: Disclosure and 
Committal

June 1990 Amendments contained in the Criminal 
Procedure Bill – assent given 25 June 2008, 
split between several statutes. 

NZLC R 15 Annual Report 1990

NZLC R 16 Company Law Reform: 
Transition and Revision

September 1990 A supplement to NZLC R9.

NZLC R 17 A New Interpretation Act: 
To Avoid “Prolixity and 
Tautology”

December 1990 Recommendations reflected in the 
Interpretation Act 1999.

NZLC R 18 Aspects of Damages: 
Employment Contracts 
and the Rule in Addis v 
Gramophone Co

March 1991 Implemented almost in entirety by the 
Employment Contracts Act 1991.

NZLC R 19 Aspects of Damages: The 
Rules in Bain v Fothergill 
and Joyner v Weeks

May 1991 Abolition of the rule in Bain v Fothergill 
implemented by the Property Law 
Amendment Act 1994.

Problems with the rule in Joyner v Weeks 
partially addressed in Mäori Trustee v Rogross 
Farms Ltd [1994] 3 NZLR 410 (CA).

NZLC R 20 Arbitration October 1991 Implemented by the Arbitration Act 1996.

NZLC R Annual Report 1991

NZLC R 22 Final Report on 
Emergencies

December 1991 A supplement to NZLC R 12. Materially 
influenced the Biosecurity Act 1993.

NZLC R 23 The United Nations 
Convention on Contracts 
for the International Sale 
of Goods: New Zealand’s 
Proposed Acceptance

June 1992 Implemented by the Sale of Goods  
(United Nations Convention) Act 1994.

NZLC R 24 Annual Report 1992

NZLC R 25 Contract Statutes Review May 1993 Many recommendations included in  
the Statutes Amendment Bill 2001  
(refer Select Committee Report 1/04/2010). 
Others not considered a Ministerial priority.

NZLC R 26 Annual Report 1993

NZLC R 27 The Format of Legislation December 1993 Adopted by Chief Parliamentary Counsel.

NZLC R 28 Aspects of Damages:  
The Award of Interest  
on Money Claims

May 1994 Interest on Money Claims Bill in draft 
2008/9. 

NZLC R 29 A New Property Law Act June 1994 Property Law Act, assent 4/10/2007.

NZLC R 30 Community Safety:  
Mental Health and 
Criminal Justice Issues

August 1994 Included in the Criminal Procedure 
(Mentally Impaired Persons) Act  
passed in October 2003.

NZLC R 31 Police Questioning October 1994 Not advanced by successive governments. 

NZLC R 32 Annual Report 1994

NZLC R 33 Annual Report 1995

NZLC R 34 A New Zealand Guide to 
International Law and its 
Sources

May 1996 For use as a resource – no law changes 
recommended.
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NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 35 Legislation Manual: 
Structure and Style

May 1996 For use as a resource.

Proposals on structure and style substantially 
adopted by the Parliamentary Counsel Office 
and in widespread use.

NZLC R 36 Annual Report 1996

NZLC R 37 Crown Liability and 
Judicial Immunity: A 
response to Baigent’s case 
and Harvey v Derrick

May 1997 Recommendations as to Baigent’s  
case accepted. Implemented in part  
by section 27 Interpretation Act 1999.

NZLC R 38 Succession Law: Homicidal 
Heirs 

July 1997 Succession (Homicide) Act, assent 
17/10/2007.

NZLC R 39 Succession Law: A 
Succession (Adjustment) Act 

August 1997 Some issues addressed in the Property 
(Relationships) Amendment Act 2001.

NZLC R 40 Review of the Official 
Information Act 1982 

October 1997 Some proposals included in the Statutes 
Amendment Bill (No 3) which was  
passed in Oct 2003; report considered  
in LC’s 2009/11 OIA review project.

NZLC R 41 Succession Law: A 
Succession (Wills) Act 

October 1997 Wills Act, assent 28/8/2007.

NZLC R 42 Evidence Law: Witness 
Anonymity

October 1997 Largely implemented by the Evidence 
(Witness Anonymity) Act 1997.

NZLC R 43 Annual Report 1997

NZLC R 44 Habeas Corpus: Procedure November 1997 Implemented by Habeas Corpus Act 2001, 
further bill drafted to address deficiencies 
(refer to NZLC R100 2008). 

NZLC R 45 The Treaty Making  
Process Reform and  
the Role of Parliament 

December 1997 Partially implemented by changes  
to Standing Orders (SO 382–385).

NZLC R 46 Some Insurance  
Law Problems

May 1998 Key recommendations included in Life 
Insurance report (NZLC R87), Insurance 
(Prudential Supervision) Act 2010.

NZLC R 47 Apportionment of  
Civil Liability 

May 1998 Reform proposals not advanced by successive 
governments.

NZLC R 48 Annual Report September 1998

NZLC R 49 Compensating the  
Wrongly Convicted (1998)

September 1998 Implemented by adoption of cabinet policy 
(prerogative).

NZLC R 50 Electronic Commerce Part 
One: A Guide for the Legal 
and Business Community

October 1998 Report explores basis for reform to 
accommodate electronic commerce, followed 
by Part Two (see NZLC R58). Reflected  
in Electronic Transactions Act 2002.

NZLC R 51 Dishonestly Procuring 
Valuable Benefits

December 1998 Reflected in Crimes Amendment Act 2003. 

NZLC R 52 Cross Border Insolvency: 
Should NZ Adopt the 
UNCITRAL Model Law on 
Cross-Border Insolvency?

February 1999 Reflected in Insolvency (Cross-border)  
Act 2006.

NZLC R 53 Justice: The Experience  
of Mäori Women

April 1999 Resource only: no specific measures proposed.
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NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 54 Computer Misuse May 1999 Included in the Crimes Amendment Act 2003.

NZLC R 55 Evidence August 1999 Reflected in Evidence Act 2006.

NZLC R 56 Annual Report September 1999

NZLC R Retirement Villages September 1999 Reflected in Retirement Villages Act 2003.

NZLC R 58 Electronic Commerce 
Part Two: A Basic Legal 
Framework

November 1999 Reflected in Electronic Transactions Act 
2002, (Part One NZLC R50).

NZLC R 59 Shared Ownership of Land November 1999 Department of Building & Housing, with 
Justice and LINZ, reviewed the Unit Titles 
Act, including LC’s recommendations relating 
to unit title developments. Unit Titles Act 
received assent April 2010. 

NZLC R 60 Costs in Criminal Cases May 2000 Legislation drafted 2007/08.

NZLC R 61 Tidying the Limitation Act July 2000 Update review completed November 2008, 
recommendations reflected in the Limitation 
Act 2010.

NZLC R 62 Coroners August 2000 Reflected in Coroners Act 2006.

NZLC R 63 Annual Report 2000 August 2000

NZLC R 64 Defaming Politicians: 
A Response to Lange v 
Atkinson

August 2000 C/Appeal held S19 of Act adequately balances 
protection of reputation versus freedom 
of speech, procedural recommendations 
considered in Evidence Act 2006.

NZLC R 65 Adoption and Its 
Alternatives: A Different 
Approach and a New 
Framework

September 2000 Policy proposals developed but proposals  
not advanced by successive governments.

NZLC R 66 Criminal Prosecution October 2000 Some amendments contained in Criminal 
Procedure Bill, assent 25/6/2008, divided 
between several statutes.

NZLC R 67 Tax and Privilege: Legal 
Professional Privilege 
and the Commissioner of 
Inland Revenue’s Powers 
to Obtain Information

October 2000 The Taxation (Base Maintenance and 
Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 2005 
extends a non-disclosure right to tax advisors.

NZLC R 68 Electronic Commerce Part 
Three: Remaining Issues

December 2000 Most recommendations relate to ongoing 
review by relevant agencies. New Zealand  
is now a member of the Hague Conference  
on Private International Law. 

NZLC R 69 Juries in Criminal Trials February 2001 Some amendments contained in Criminal 
Procedure Bill, assent 25/6/2008,  
divided between several statutes.

NZLC R 70 Acquittal Following 
Perversion of the Course  
of Justice

March 2001 Some amendments contained in Criminal 
Procedure Bill, assent 25/6/2008,  
divided between several statutes.

NZLC R 71 Misuse of Enduring Powers 
of Attorney

April 2001 Protection of Personal and Property  
Rights Amendment Act, assent 25/9/07.

NZLC R 72 Subsidising Litigation May 2001 A conditional fee regime is included in  
the Lawyers & Conveyancers Act 2006. 
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NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 73 Some Criminal Defences 
with Particular Reference 
to Battered Defendants

May 2001 See also The Partial Defence of Provocation 
NZLC R 98 2007. Crimes (Provocation 
Repeal) Act received assent Dec 2009.

NZLC R 74 Minority Buy-outs August 2001 Companies (Minority Buy-out Rights) 
Amendment Act, assent 16/9/2008. 

NZLC R 75 Annual report August 2001

NZLC R 76 Proof of Disputed Facts  
on Sentence

December 2001 Incorporated in the Sentencing Act 2002.

NZLC R 77 The Future of the Joint 
Family Homes Act

January 2002 Reform proposals not advanced by successive 
governments.

NZLC R 78 General Discovery February 2002 No Government action expected. 
Recommendations were made to the  
High Court Rules Committee.

NZLC R 79 Some Problems in  
the Law of Trusts

May 2002 Trustee Amendment Bill introduced 9/07, 
Select Committee report published 9/7/2008. 

NZLC R 80 Protections Some 
Disadvantaged People  
May Need

April 2002 Not advanced by successive governments  
and overtaken by Protection of Personal  
and Property Rights Amendment Act 2007. 

NZLC R 81 Annual Report 2002 August 2002

NZLC R 82 Dispute Resolution in  
the Family Court

April 2003 A number of recommendations reflected  
in Family Courts Matters Bill introduced 
8/07, including non-judicial led mediation  
– assent to divided bills 09/08.

NZLC R 83 Improving the Arbitration 
Act 1996

February 2003 Arbitration Amendment Act, assent 
17/10/2007. 

NZLC R 84 Annual Report 2003 August 2003

NZLC R 85 Delivering Justice for All March 2004 Main structural changes rejected, some 
recs advanced in service improvement & 
communications strategies for Courts; civil 
& criminal process recs considered in later, 
related policy work of Rules Committee 
and Ministry of Justice; tribunals proposals 
followed by NZLC SP20 2008; recs re duty 
solicitors and Police custody legal aid  
advanced by LSA; open justice recs  
reflected in the Family Court Matters Act  
(see NZLC R82 above). 

NZLC R 86 Annual Report 2004 August 2004

NZLC R 87 Life Insurance December 2004 Part of MED/ Reserve Bank review of 
regulation of financial products and providers 
07/08; Insurance (Prudential Supervision)  
Bill awaiting report-back June 2010. 

NZLC R 88 New Issues in  
Legal Parenthood

April 2005 Reform proposals not advanced by successive 
governments.

NZLC R 89 Criminal Pre-Trial 
Processes: Justice  
Through Efficiency

June 2005 Reform proposals included within the 
Criminal Procedure (Reform and 
Modernisation) Bill 2010 awaiting  
report back June 2011. 

NZLC R 90 Annual Report 2004–05
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66 Annual Report 

NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R 91 Forfeiture under the 
Customs and Excise  
Act 1996

January 2006 Customs and Excise Amendment Act  
(No 3) – assent 16/9/08.

NZLC R 92 Waka Umanga: A Proposed 
Law For Mäori Governance 
Entities 

May 2006 Waka Umanga (Mäori Corporations) Bill 
introduced 10/07, discharged Dec 2009. 

NZLC R 93 Access to Court Records June 2006 New High Court Rules, including changes to 
access rules, in effect from 6/09; similar rules 
planned for District Court.

NZLC R94 Sentencing Guidelines and 
Parole Reform

June 2007 Criminal Justice Reform Act,  
assent 31/7/07. 

NZLC R95 Annual Report 2005–2006

NZLC R96 Reforming the Law of 
Sedition

March 2007 Crimes (Repeal of Seditious Offences) Act, 
assent 5/11/2007.

NZLC R97 Search and Surveillance 
Powers

June 2007 Search and Surveillance Powers Bill 
introduced 09/08, replaced by Search and 
Surveillance Bill, reported back 4/11/10.

NZLC R98 The Partial Defence of 
Provocation

October 2007 Crimes (Provocation Repeal) Act,  
assent Dec 2009.

NZLC R99 Annual Report 2006–2007

NZLC R100 Habeas Corpus Refining 
the Procedure

February 2008 Habeas Corpus Amendment Bill drafted, 
awaiting Government consideration. 

NZLC R101 Public Registers: Review of 
the Law of Privacy stage 2

February 2008 Awaiting formal response, Government  
to consider the 4 Privacy reports together  
after final report tabled 2/8/11. 

NZLC R102 A New Inquiries Act May 2008 Inquiries Bill reported back 20/11/09, 
awaiting 2nd reading July 2011. 

NZLC R103 Disclosure to Courts of 
Defendants’ Previous 
Convictions, Similar 
Offending, and Bad 
Character

May 2008 LC to monitor operation of Act and report to 
Minister of Justice, first report due early 2010. 

NZLC R104 Presentation of New 
Zealand Statute Law 

December 2008 Legislation Bill reported back 1/12/10, 
awaiting 2nd reading July 2011. 

NZLC R105 Annual Report 2007–2008

NZLC R106 Review of Regulatory 
Framework for the Sale 
and Supply of Liquor: Part 
1: Alcohol Legislation and 
the Conscience Vote

May 2009 Alcohol Reform Bill 1st reading 11/11/10.

NZLC R107 Review of the Statutes 
Drafting & Compilation 
Act 1920 

June 2009 Legislation Bill reported back 1/12/10, 
awaiting 2nd reading July 2011.

NZLC R108 Private Schools  
and The Law

September 2009 Reflected in Education Amendment  
Bill (No 2) assent 20/12/10.
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NO. NAME RELEASED GOVERNMENT RESPONSE

NZLC R109 Suppressing Names  
and Evidence

November 2009 Reform proposals included within the 
Criminal Procedure (Reform and 
Modernisation) Bill 2010 awaiting  
report back June 2011.

NZLC R110 Annual Report 2008–09

NZLC R111 Review of Part 8 of The 
Crimes Act 1961: Crimes 
Against the Person

December 2009 Crimes Amendment Bill (No 2)  
1st reading 10/5/11.

NZLC R112 Review of the Civil List Act 
– the Governor-General

December 2009 Governor-General Act 2010.

NZLC R113 Invasion of Privacy: 
Penalties and Remedies: 
Review of the Law of 
Privacy: Stage 3

February 2010 Awaiting formal response, Government  
to consider the 4 Privacy reports together  
after final report tabled 2/8/11.

NZLC R114 Alcohol In Our Lives: 
Curbing the Harm

April 2010 Alcohol Reform Bill 1st reading 11/11/10.

NZLC R115 A New Support Scheme  
for Veterans: A Report  
on the Review of the  
War Pensions Act 1954

May 2010 Awaiting formal response..

NZLC R116 A New Land Transfer Act July 2010 Awaiting formal response, Land Transfer  
Bill drafted and work ongoing.

NZLC R 

117

Annual Report 2009-2010

NZLC R118 Compulsory Treatment for 
Substance Dependence: A 
Review of the Alcoholism 
and Drug Addiction Act 
1966

October 2010 Awaiting formal response, work underway on 
implementation by Ministry of Health officials.

NZLC R119 Review of the Civil List 
Act 1979 – Members of 
Parliament and Ministers

December 2010 Awaiting formal response, LC assisting 
officials with ongoing work. 

NZLC R120 Mental Impairment 
Decision-Making and the 
Insanity Defence

December 2010 Initial response accepts broad approach, 
inter-agency committee working on aspects  
to be reported on mid-2012.

NZLC R121 Compensating Crime 
Victims

December 2010 Government decisions re victims’ 
compensation made before report published, 
conclusions of report similar. Formal response 
rejects further report recommendations.

NZLC R122 Controlling and Regulating 
Drugs – A Review of the 
Misuse of Drugs (R122)

May 2011 Awaiting formal response, work underway on 
implementation by Ministry of Health officials.
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68 Annual Report 

Issues Paper Series

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC IP1 The Role of Public 
Inquiries

January 2007 Followed by IP5 and NZLC R102.

NZLC IP2 Presentation of  
New Zealand  
Statute Law

September 2007 Followed by NZLC R104. 

NZLC IP3 Public Registers – Review 
of the Law of Privacy: 
Stage 2

September 2007 Followed by Report NZLC R101.

NZLC IP4 Disclosure of Previous 
Convictions

November 2007 Followed by Report NZLC R103.

NZLC IP5 Public Inquiries: Draft 
Report

November 2007 Followed by report NZLC R102.

NZLC IP6 Tribunals in New Zealand January 2008 Followed by SP20.

NZLC IP7 Towards a New Veterans’ 
Entitlements Scheme: 
Discussion paper on 
a Review of the War 
Pensions Act 1954 

July 2008 Followed by report NZLC R115.

NZLC IP8 Review of The Civil List 
Act 1979

July 2008 Review of Civil List Act project split in 2009 
and NZLC R112 published, followed by  
NZLC R119. 

NZLC IP9 Review of Prerogative Writs August 2008 Contribution to review of prerogative writs, 
decision not to pursue in light of submissions 
received. 

NZLC IP10 Review of the Land 
Transfer Act 1952 

October 2008 Followed by R116.

NZLC IP11 Compensating  
Crime Victims 

October 2008 Followed by NZLC R121.

NZLC IP12 Private Schools  
and the Law 

December 2008 Followed by NZLC R108. 

NZLC IP13 Suppressing Names  
and Evidence 

December 2008 Contribution to Criminal Procedure 
(Simplification) project, recommendations 
incorporated in Criminal Procedure  
(Reform and Modification) Bill.

NZLC IP14 Invasion of Privacy: 
Penalties and Remedies

March 2009 Followed by NZLC R113. 

NZLC IP 15 Alcohol In Our Lives July 2009 Followed by NZLC R114.

NZLC IP 16 Controlling and  
Regulating drugs

February 2010 Followed by NZCL R118 and R122.

NZLC IP17 Review of the Privacy  
Act 1993

March 2010 Followed by R123.

NZLC IP18 The Public’s Right to Know September 2010 Contribution to Review of official information 
legislation, in progress at year end.

NZLC IP19 Review of Trust Law in 
New Zealand: Introductory 
Issues Paper

November 2010 Contribution to Review of Trust Law in  
New Zealand in progress at year end.
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NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC IP20 Some Issues with the Law 
of Trusts in New Zealand: 
Review of the Law of 
Trusts Second Paper

December 2010 Contribution to Review of Trust Law in  
New Zealand, in progress at year end.

NZLC IP21 Towards a New Courts 
Act – A Register of Judges’ 
Pecuniary Interests?

March 2010 Contribution to Review of the Judicature Act 
1908, in progress at year end.

NZLC IP22 Perpetuities and the 
Revocation and Variation 
of Trusts

May 2011 Contribution to Review of Trust Law in  
New Zealand, in progress at year end.

NZLC IP23 Final Words: Death and 
Cremation Certification  
in New Zealand

May 2011 Contribution to Review of Burial and 
Cremation Act 1964, in progress at year end.

NZLC IP24 Reforming the 
Incorporated Societies  
Act 1908

June 2011 Contribution to Review of Incorporated 
Societies Act 1908, in progress at year end 

NZLC IP26 The Duties, Office and 
Powers of a Trustee: 
Review of the Law of 
Trusts Fourth Issues Paper

June 2011 Contribution to Review of Trust Law in  
New Zealand, in progress at year end.

Study Paper Series

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC SP1 Women’s Access to Legal 
Services

June 1999 Many recommendations implemented by 
relevant Government agencies.

NZLC SP2 Priority Debts in the 
Distribution of Insolvent 
Estates: An Advisory 
Report to the Ministry of 
Commerce

October 1999 Insolvency Act 2006. 

NZLC SP3 Protecting Construction 
Contractors

November 1999 Adopted in Construction Contracts  
Act 2002.

NZLC SP4 Recognising Same-Sex 
Relationships

December 1999 Submission to the Ministry of Justice  
– no further action required.

NZLC SP5 International Trade 
Conventions

November 2000 Resource only.

NZLC SP6 To Bind Their Kings in 
Chains: An Advisory 
Report to the Ministry of 
Justice

December 2000 Reflected in provisions of Crown 
Organisations (Criminal Liability)  
Act 2002.

NZLC SP7 Simplification of Criminal 
Procedure Legislation: An 
Advisory Report to the 
Ministry of Justice

January 2001 Contribution to Simplification of  
Criminal Justice Processes, leading  
to Criminal Procedure (Reform  
and Modernisation) Bill. 
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70 Annual Report 

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC SP8 Determining 
Representation Rights 
under Te Ture Whenua 
Mäori Act 1993:  
An Advisory Report  
for Te Puni Kökiri

March 2001 No further action by Government.

NZLC SP9 Mäori Custom and Values 
in New Zealand Law

March 2001 Resource only.

NZLC SP10 Mandatory Orders  
Against the Crown and 
Tidying Judicial Review

March 2001 No further action by Government.

NZLC SP11 Insolvency Law Reform: 
Promoting Trust and 
Confidence

May 2001 Considered by the Ministry of Economic 
Developments in review of Insolvency  
Law, Insolvency Act 2006.

NZLC SP12 Electronic Technology  
and Police Investigations

February 2002 Advice to the Ministry of Justice,  
followed by Search and Surveillance Powers 
NZLC R97 2007, leading to Search and 
Surveillance Bill.

NZLC SP13 Treaty of Waitangi 
Claims: Addressing the 
Post-Settlement Phase:  
An Advisory Report for  
Te Puni Kökiri, the Office 
of Treaty Settlements and 
the Chief Judge of the 
Mäori Land Court

August 2002 Advice to the Ministry for Mäori 
Development, followed by Waka  
Umanga: A Proposed Law for Mäori  
Governance Entities NZLC R92 2006.

NZLC SP14 Liability for Loss 
Resulting from the 
Development, Supply or 
Use of Genetically Modified 
Organisms

August 2002 No further action by Government.

NZLC SP15 Intimate Covert Filming June 2004 Reflected in Crimes (Intimate Covert 
Filming) Amendment Act 2006.

NZLC SP16 The Infringements System: 
A framework for Reform 

August 2005 Contribution to a joint review of Ministry 
of Justice and Law Commission to develop a 
statutory framework for establishment and 
operation of infringement offences. Ministry 
of Justice provided guidelines on their website.

NZLC SP17 Converging Currents: 
Custom and Human  
Rights in the Pacific

October 2006 Advice to Minister, Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs and Trade, and of interest to Pacific 
countries, No further action by Government.

NZLC SP18 Further Reform of  
Habeas Corpus Procedure

August 2007 Habeas Corpus Amendment Bill drafted 
(NZLC R100 2008).

NZLC SP19 Privacy Concepts  
and Issues

February 2008 Contribution to Review of Privacy,  
completed June 2011. 

NZLC SP20 Tribunal Reform December 2008 Further progressed deferred 08/09.
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Miscellaneous Paper Series

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC MP1 What Should Happen  
to your Property when  
you Die?

August 1996 Preliminary to NZLC PP24 and NZLC R41.

NZLC MP2 Succession Law Wills 
Reforms

October 1996 Preliminary to NZLC PP24 and NZLC R41.

NZLC MP3 Information about 
Lawyers’ Fees

October 1996 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC MP4 Women’s Access  
to Legal Information

March 1997 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC MP5 The Law of Parliamentary 
Privilege

December 1996 Resource only.

NZLC MP6 The Taking into Account 
of Te Ao Mäori in Relation 
to Reform of the Law of 
Succession

July 1996 Resource only.

NZLC MP7 Strategic Business  
Plan 1996/97

December 1996 Resource only.

NZLC MP8 Women’s Access  
to Civil Legal Aid

March 1997 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC MP9 Women’s Access to Legal 
Advice and Representation

April 1997 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC 

MP10

Lawyers’ Costs in Family 
Law Disputes

June 1997 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC 

MP11

The Education and 
Training of Law Students 
and Lawyers

September 1997 Preliminary to NZLC SP1.

NZLC 

MP12

Costs in Criminal Cases November 1997 Followed by report NZLC R60.

NZLC 

MP13

Total Recall: The reliability 
of witness testimony

August 1999 Resource only.

NZLC 

MP14

The Role of Public 
Inquiries 

January 2006 Preliminary to NZLC IP1.

NZLC 

MP15

Waka Umanga (Mäori 
Corporations) Bill

May 2007 Draft bill for consultation with Mäori and 
interest groups, superseded by revised bill 
introduced 10/07. 

NZLC 

MP16

Limitation Defences in 
Civil Cases: Update Report 
for Law Commission

June 2007 Resource for review of limitation issues, 
Limitation Bill introduced June 2009. 

NZLC 

MP19

A Conceptual Approach  
to Privacy

November 2007 Contribution to LC Privacy project,  
ongoing 2008/09.
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72 Annual Report 

Preliminary Paper Series (replaced by Issues Papers series from 2007)

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC PP1 Legislation and its 
Interpretation: The Acts 
Interpretation Act 1924 
and Related Legislation

June 1987 Followed by report NZLC R17.

NZLC PP2 The Accident 
Compensation Scheme

September 1987 Followed by reports NZLC R3 and NZLC R4.

NZLC PP3 The Limitation Act 1950 September 1987 Followed by report NZLC R6.

NZLC PP4 The Structure of the Courts December 1987 Followed by report NZLC R7.

NZLC PP5 Company Law December 1987 Followed by reports NZLC R9 and NZLC R16.

NZLC PP6 Reform of Personal 
Property Security Law 
(report by Prof JH Farrar 
and MA O’Regan)

1988 Followed by report NZLC R8.

NZLC PP7 Arbitration November 1988 Followed by report NZLC R20.

NZLC PP8 Legislation and its 
Interpretation

December 1988 Followed by report NZLC R17.

NZLC PP9 The Treaty of Waitangi 
and Mäori Fisheries – 
Mataitai Nga Tikanga 
Mäori me te Tiriti o 
Waitangi

March 1989 For use as a resource, reference  
withdrawn by Minister of Justice  
at Law Commission’s request.

NZLC PP10 Hearsay Evidence June 1989 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP11 “Unfair” Contracts September 1990 No further consideration intended.

NZLC PP12 The Prosecution  
of Offences

November 1990 Followed by further discussion paper  
NZLC PP28.

NZLC PP13 Evidence Law: Principles 
for Reform

April 1991 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP14 Evidence Law: Codification April 1991 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP15 Evidence Law: Hearsay April 1991 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP16 The Property Law  
Act 1952

July 1991 Followed by report NZLC R29.

NZLC PP17 Aspects of Damages: 
Interest on Debts  
and Damages

November 1991 Followed by report NZLC R28.

NZLC PP18 Evidence Law:  
Expert Evidence and 
Opinion Evidence

December 1991 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP19 Apportionment  
of Civil Liability

March 1992 Followed by report NZLC R47 .

NZLC PP20 Tenure and Estates in Land June 1992 No further consideration intended.

NZLC PP21 Criminal Evidence:  
Police Questioning

September 1993 Followed by report NZLC R31.

NZLC PP22 Evidence Law: 
Documentary Paper

May 1994 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP23 Evidence Law: Privilege May 1994 Followed by report NZLC R55.
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NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC PP24 Succession Law: 
Testamentary Claims

August 1996 Followed by reports NZLC R38,  
NZLC R39, and NZLC R41.

NZLC PP25 The Privilege Against 
Self-Incrimination

September 1996 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP26 The Evidence of Children 
and Other Vulnerable 
Witnesses

October 1996 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP27 Evidence Law: Character 
and Credibility

February 1997 Followed by report NZLC R55.

NZLC PP28 Criminal Prosecution March 1997 Followed by report NZLC R66.

NZLC PP29 Evidence Law: Witness 
Anonymity

September 1997 Followed by report NZLC R42.

NZLC PP30 Repeal of the Contracts 
Enforcement Act 1956

December 1997 No further action.

NZLC PP31 Compensation for 
Wrongful Conviction  
or Prosecution

April 1998 Followed by report NZLC R49.

NZLC PP32 Juries in Criminal Trials: 
Part One

July 1998 Followed by Juries in Criminal Trials: Part 
Two NZLC PP37 and Report NZLC R69.

NZLC PP33 Defaming Politicians:  
A Response to Lange  
v Atkinson

September 1998 Followed by report NZLC R64.

NZLC PP34 Retirement Villages October 1998 Followed by report NZLC R57.

NZLC PP35 Shared Ownership of Land January 1999 Followed by report NZLC R59.

NZLC PP36 Coroners: A Review August 1999 Followed by report NZLC R62.

NZLC PP37 Juries in Criminal Trials: 
Part Two

November 1999 Followed by report NZLC R69.

NZLC PP38 Adoption: Options  
for Reform

October 1999 Followed by report NZLC R65.

NZLC PP39 Limitation of Civil Actions February 2000 Followed by report NZLC 61.

NZLC PP40 Misuse of Enduring  
Powers of Attorney

May 2000 Followed by report NZLC R71.

NZLC PP41 Battered Defendants: 
Victims of Domestic 
Violence Who Offend

August 2000 Followed by report NZLC R73.

NZLC PP42 Acquittal Following 
Perversion of the Course  
of Justice: A Response  
to R v Moore

September 2000 Followed by report NZLC R70.

NZLC PP43 Subsidising Litigation December 2000 Followed by report NZLC R72.

NZLC PP44 The Future of the Joint 
Family Homes Act

August 2001 Followed by report NZLC R77.

NZLC PP45 Reforming the Rules  
of General Discovery

September 2001 Followed by report NZLC R78.

NZLC PP46 Improving the Arbitration 
Act 1996

September 2001 Followed by report NZLC R83.

PA
RT

 1
 

N
on

-fi
na

nc
ia

l  
re

po
rt

in
g

PA
R

T
 2

 
St

at
em

en
t 

of
 s

er
vi

ce
  

pe
rf

or
m

an
ce

 a
nd

  
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts
A

PP
EN

D
IC

ES



74 Annual Report 

NO. NAME RELEASED OUTCOME

NZLC PP47 Family Court Dispute 
Resolution

January 2002 Followed by report NZLC R82.

NZLC PP48 Some Problems in  
the Law of Trusts

January 2002 Followed by report NZLC R79.

NZLC PP49 Protecting Personal 
Information From 
Disclosure

February 2002 As requested by the Ministry of Justice  
no further work will be done.

NZLC PP50 Entry, search and Seizure April 2002 Followed by report NZLC R97. 

NZLC PP51 Striking the balance,  
Your opportunity to  
have your say on the  
New Zealand Court System

May 2002 Followed by options paper,  
Seeking Solutions, PP52 and R85.

NZLC PP52 Seeking Solutions: Options 
for Change to the New 
Zealand Court System

December 2002 Followed by report NZLC R85.

NZLC PP53 Life Insurance – A 
Discussion Paper

December 2003 Followed by report NZLC R87.

NZLC PP54 New Issues in  
Legal Parenthood –  
A discussion paper

March 2004 Followed by report NZLC R88.

NZLC PP55 Reforming Criminal 
Pre-Trial Processes/Status 
Hearings Evaluation

August 2004 Followed by report NZLC R89.

NZLC PP0 Reforms to the Sentencing 
and Parole Structure: 
Consultation Draft

August 2006 Followed by report NZLC R94.
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